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November 20, 2020 

Citizens of Noblesville and Other Interested Persons, 

I am proud and pleased to present to you the 2019 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, 
as well as a summary of all the services, projects and activities that make the City of 
Noblesville a community of exceptional opportunities and great potential. This report 
reflects our financial position as for the end of the four (4) term tenure of my predecessor’s 
financial strength.  The report was prepared under the guidance of our Chief Financial 
Officer, Jeff Spalding, and follows the guidelines set forth by the Government Finance Officers 
Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada. It will now be submitted to the GFOA 
for review. 

Noblesville is a great city in which to live, work, and play. Like all aspiring communities, we 
must provide the necessary public amenities and lifestyle opportunities to support and 
encourage essential private investment. Our city provides high quality services to its citizens, 
including public safety, sanitation and recycling service, transportation infrastructure, 
community planning and zoning, parks and recreation, and general administration. Our 
uncompromising goal is to provide those services to our citizens in an efficient, cost effective 
manner. To that end, we strive to hire well, plan insightfully, and provide employees with 
up-to-date equipment and on-going training. 

This report would not be possible without the support of the entire Noblesville Common 
Council, City administration, our auditors from the State Board of Accounts, and the 
commitment of our accountants at O. W. Krohn & Associates, LLP to quality reporting and 
absolute compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements. 

The unusual work disruptions encountered this year, associated with the COVID-19 public 
health emergency, have delayed the completion of this report past June 30, as typically done, 
and does not reflect on-going change in City financial reporting practices. I invite your 
comments and questions concerning the information contained in this document. 

Keep chasing, 

Chris Jensen, Mayor 
City of Noblesville 
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November 20, 2020 

Honorable Mayor Chris Jensen and Members of Common Council, 

The Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) of the City of Noblesville, Indiana, for the year 
ended December 31, 2019, is submitted herewith. The CAFR is presented as part of a continuing 
effort to provide the citizens of Noblesville with the highest standards of financial 
accountability and disclosure. 

This report was prepared by O.W. Krohn and Associates, LLP on behalf of the City and in conjunction 
with the Office of Finance & Accounting (OFA). Responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, and 
fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the City. I believe the data presented 
is accurate in all material aspects; that it is presented in a manner that fairly sets forth the City’s 
financial position and results of operations as measured by the financial activity of its various funds; 
and that all material disclosures necessary to enable a knowledgeable reader to gain full 
understanding of the City’s financial activity have been included. The delay in issuing this year’s 
report, after June 30 as typically done, is due entirely to work disruptions associated with the COVID-
19 public health emergency and does not reflect an oversight, error, or on-going change in practice.  

The Board of Accounts of the State of Indiana has issued an unmodified opinion on the City of 
Noblesville’s financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2019. The independent auditor’s 
opinion is located at the front of the financial section of this report. 

REPORT FORMAT 

Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) require that management provide a narrative 
introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany the official financial statements in the form of 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This letter of transmittal is intended to complement 
the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The City of Noblesville’s MD&A can be found 
immediately following the report of the independent auditors. 

PROFILE OF THE GOVERNMENT 

The City of Noblesville was incorporated in 1851 and is the County seat of Hamilton County. It is 
located in central Indiana 17 miles northeast of downtown Indianapolis. Noblesville is one of the 
most rapidly growing municipalities in the State, serving a current estimated population of 64,668, 
covering an area of approximately 35.8 square miles with 298.3 miles of public roadways. 

The City government is comprised of executive, legislative, and judicial branches. The Mayor is the 
head of the executive branch and is elected to a four-year term. The Mayor appoints the Controller, 
who is the chief fiscal officer of the City. The legislative branch is the City’s nine member Common 
Council which is the official fiscal body as defined in Indiana law. The Council is comprised of six 
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district and three at-large seats. All serve four-year terms. The Council meets formally twice a month 
to conduct business. Their duties include the enactment of all ordinances and resolutions and 
approving the annual budget and any augmentations or transfers of appropriations. All local judicial 
branch duties reside with the Noblesville City Court which is led by an elected judge. 

The administrative body for the City is the Board of Public Works & Safety (BOW). Through the end 
of 2019, the BOW was composed of three members, two appointed by the Mayor and the Mayor, who 
presides. In January 2020, the structure of the BOW was changed to a five member body all appointed 
by the Mayor. The BOW is also administrator of the Wastewater Utility. That utility served 22,000 
customers as of December 31, 2019, an increase of 835 over the prior year. 

The City of Noblesville provides a full range of municipal services to its residents. These include 
police and fire protection, emergency medical services, road and street preservation, construction, 
and maintenance; public parks, other public improvements, recreational activities, cultural 
activities, wastewater services, business recruitment and retention, development planning, zoning 
enforcement, engineering services, and general administrative services. Certain public financing 
functions are provided by the Noblesville Building Corporation and the Noblesville Redevelopment 
Authority. Although both are legally separate entities, they provide service almost exclusively to the 
City, and therefore are included as an integral part of the City’s financial statements. Additional 
information on those entities is provided in Note I.A. of the notes to the financial statements. 

FACTORS AFFECTING FINANCIAL CONDITION 

The information presented in the financial statements may be better understood when economic 
and related environmental factors specifically impacting the City of Noblesville are considered. The 
following sections provide brief summaries of certain key factors related to the local economy, long 
term financial planning, and other matters intended to assist readers of this report in assessing the 
City’s financial condition. 

Local Economy 

Population growth and new investment, in and around the City of Noblesville, continues to be 
positive factors affecting the local economy. Population increases in the last four U. S. census surveys 
were as follows: 1980 increased 59.7%; 1990 increased 46.4%, 2000 increased 61.8% and 2010 
increased 81.8%. 

The most recent population estimate, by the US Census Bureau, for the City of Noblesville is 64,668. 
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That is a 2% increase over 2018.  In 2020, the next decennial census was conducted. We look forward 
to the results of that National project. 

The City garners continual interest from site selectors and businesses looking at locating, relocating, 
or expanding their businesses.  Forty-one (41) non-residential building permits were issued in 2019 
with a capital investment of nearly $68.3 million.  A couple of the more noteworthy projects were:   

• The Levinson - The first downtown apartment building in over 100 years.  This mixed-use
project, an estimated $23.4 million investment, will contain 85 apartments and 5,100 square
feet of commercial space for retail, office, or restaurant use.  The project will also include a
three level parking garage which will alleviate existing downtown parking shortages.

• Rockstone Investments, LLC – The parent company of Noblesville-based homebuilder
Bedrock Builders initiated plans to move its corporate headquarters to Noblesville.  This
project includes four buildings and a 17,000 square foot warehouse and an anticipated capital
investment of $4.3 million.

In addition to attracting new business, the City also works with existing businesses on retention and 
expansion projects.  A couple of the projects that were a part of our “Stay Here, Grow Here” initiative 
are:   

• Nexxt Spine, a spinal implant manufacturer, plans to renovate and expand its headquarters
with a $500,000 investment.  In an effort to keep up with demand, they will triple the size of
both the 3-D printing room and the clean room. They are also adding manufacturing and office
space.

• Gaylor Electric, a large electrical contractor, began work on building a new production and
innovation center.  Along with 33,000 square feet of a fabrication and engineering innovation,
the space will also include 17,000 square feet of office, conference, and classroom space for
operations and training.  This project is an estimated capital investment of $4.3 million.

The end of 2019 saw the election of a new Mayor who took office in January 2020.  Mayor Jensen 
brought with him the “Report of the Jensen Transition Team” that laid out his four (4) policy pillars.  
Economic Development is cited as one of those pillars with guidance on targeted industries, 
workforce development, and community engagement for 2020.   

Long-Range Planning 

In September of 2019, the City of Noblesville hired HWC Engineering and began the process to 
update its comprehensive plan. In February of 2020, the 2020 Noblesville Comprehensive Plan was 
adopted by the Common Council. The creation of this plan was the culmination of a six-month 
process that included focus groups, stakeholder interviews, and a series of open houses. Throughout 
that process, the team assessed past progress and set a series of goals, objectives, and 
implementation actions to guide future development, redevelopment, and community building 
efforts. The core purpose of this comprehensive plan is to promote and enhance the City’s many 
unique assets, protect its valuable natural features, and maintain a healthy variety of housing options 
thereby creating a stronger community while also strengthening the tax base. 

One area of emphasis of the update focused on creating new land use categories and creating a new 
Future Land Use Map that will help guide future growth within the Noblesville City Limits and 
Planning Jurisdiction. In contrast to past plan updates, special consideration was given to future land 
uses in Wayne Township, which is currently outside the planning jurisdiction but is anticipated for 
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future annexation. The update also added emphasis on the evaluation of floodway areas throughout 
the community and how best to preserve and enhance those areas that are facing challenges of 
ongoing development.  Additional economic development efforts are focused on the downtown 
riverfront, city gateways, trails, cultural districts, brownfield redevelopment, downtown livability, 
and residential diversity. 

In July 2018 the City announced its Noblesville NOW Capital Improvement Plan for 2018 – 2023 
projects to relieve traffic congestion, improve connectivity via roads and trails, introduce multi-
family apartments to the downtown and address the operational and capital needs of the police 
department. At least two of the City’s list of objectives: strengthening infrastructure, creating greater 
economic development, enhancing public safety, improving connectivity and expanding the 
downtown area, are fulfilled with each project.  

On January 1, 2020, a new Mayor was sworn in and brought with him an ambitious transition plan, 
Noblesville’s Next Chapter, which defined four (4) policy pillars to guide key investments for the City. 
Those pillars target public services such as: a) enhanced mental health support; b) new cultural and 
recreational amenities (with a focus on Downtown), c) workforce development and integration with 
employer demands; and d) and major public infrastructure improvements (with a focus on mobility) 
to address a variety of local demands that have emerged in response to high growth. 

The new Mayor’s capital investment plans are targeted at the dual goals of improving the local 
economy and addressing deferred public infrastructure needs. Included in those plans is the 
prospect of re-scoping several the Pleasant Street interchange projects (included in the previous 
mayor’s Noblesville NOW plan) as a 2.6 mile comprehensive arterial corridor project which includes 
some roadway realignment, a new bridge over the White River, and some new terrain roadway. Its 
leading purpose is to alleviate major east-west traffic congestion through downtown Noblesville 
which is impeding retail and residential investment in a strategically significant area. That 
congestion is the most frequently recurring complaint from local citizens, schools, first responders, 
and businesses. Furthermore, the prospect of unlocking new areas for commercial investment along 
the potential new alignment of Pleasant Street add to the attractiveness of that project to citizens 
and local officials. 

2019 was another great year for Noblesville Parks & Recreation. Noblesville held or hosted more 
than 100 events and rentals in its park locations. Over 180,000 visitors enjoyed the many public 
events produced, a significant increase from the prior year. Also, over 6,000 people participated in a 
variety of recreational and educational classes offered. 

In 2018, the City’s Park District invested $7,500,000 on its sixth park, Finch Creek. The majority of 
the earthwork was completed and work was started on a shelter, multiple playgrounds, four (4) 
pickle ball courts, a basketball court, a spray ground, two (2) access points onto Boden Road, parking 
facilities, a maintenance building and a trail system to navigate the park amenities. Most of that work 
was completed during 2019 and the park was officially opened on August 29, 2020. 

The City’s Wastewater Utility continued work on implementation of its Long-Term Sewer Control 
Plan throughout 2019. Punch list items for the Phase IV project were completed in the second 
quarter of 2019.  Throughout the year, the Utility moved forward with design of the Phase V project 
and the Stoney Creek lift station project.  In addition, an evaluation of the upgrades necessary for lift 
station #9 was undertaken.  The Phase V project includes the construction of a diversion structure 
that will convey combined sewer flows to the wastewater treatment plant and a proposed outfall. 
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The project also includes the construction of several new storm sewers and relief sewers as well as 
lining and pipe bursting of some existing lines.  Financing for the three projects was obtained in 
September 2020 with construction planned to begin shortly thereafter and project completion 
estimated for the end of 2021. 

A Biosolids Facility Plan Study was ongoing at the treatment plant evaluating the existing and 
additional biosolids generated from the completion of the Phosphorus Removal Project.  In 2019, the 
Utility lined 154 feet of corrugated metal pipe storm line and also received bids for a cured in place 
pipe project scheduled to begin construction in 2020 that will focus on a brick sewer downtown and 
a storm sewer in the Harbours.   

Relevant Financial Policies 

The executive management of the City of Noblesville is responsible for establishing and maintaining 
a system of internal financial controls. The purpose of those controls is to ensure that the assets of 
the City are protected from loss, theft, or misuse with reasonable assurance that those objectives are 
met within appropriate cost-benefit trade-offs. The executive management is also tasked with 
providing adequate accounting data to allow for the preparation of financial statements in 
conformance with generally accepted accounting principles. The OFA worked throughout 2018 to 
implement a new chart of accounts in an effort to more accurately reflect the types and purposes of 
expenditures with the goal of producing a better foundation for fiscal forecasting. In 2019, OFA 
implemented a new budget development process and tool with the goal of improving the quality, 
transparency, and usefulness of operational budgets. So far in 2020, work on improving the City’s 
budgeting process has continued with the implementation of a capital budgeting tool. Since 2018, 
the OFA has worked continuously to build out a whole new suite for internal financial reports for 
enhanced financial tracking at all levels of the enterprise. Among the most significant being a 
substantial enhancement to the comprehensiveness and quality of the City’s 5-year fiscal plan. That 
work continues unabated today. 

The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that the cost of internal control should not exceed 
the benefits likely to be received; and that the evaluation of cost and benefits requires estimates and 
judgments by management. It is the assessment of the Controller and the Mayor’s Office that the 
internal control structure does meet that standard. Furthermore, the City consults with the Indiana 
State Board of Accounts and with its professional accounting advisor routinely throughout the year, 
as needed. 

Local Income Tax 

The City has long been a recipient of a distributive share of the formerly entitled Hamilton County 
Option Income Tax (“COIT”) and pledged a portion of its distributive share to pay debt service (“COIT 
Statute”). In 2015, the General Assembly enacted legislation to consolidate and simplify the various 
local income tax laws, including COIT, into a uniform law and to transition each county from the 
former multi-statute tax authorization construct to a single tax statute with multiple local options 
hereafter referred to as the Local Income Tax statute (“LIT Statute”). Further amendments were 
made to the LIT Statute in 2016. Although the LIT Statute repealed the COIT Statute, effective January 
1, 2017, the LIT Statute stipulates that the pledge of the City’s distributive share of COIT to the 
payment of debt service on bonds will be treated as a pledge of the City’s allocation of the Hamilton 
County LIT. Under the LIT Statute, any pledge of revenues received from a tax imposed under any of 
the provisions of the COIT Statute, prior to its repeal, to the payment of debt service due on bonds is 
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binding and enforceable and remains in full force and effect as long as the debt service remains 
unpaid. 

Under the LIT Statute, the County’s maximum LIT rate may consist of: (i) a property tax relief rate, 
not to exceed 1.25%; and (ii) an expenditure rate, not to exceed 2.5%. The key distinction is that a 
LIT rate authorized for property tax relief requires a dollar-for-dollar reduction in property tax 
levies. Conversely, a LIT rate authorized for expenditure is additional revenue to supplement 
property tax revenue. 

In a typical municipal tax environment, the dollar-for-dollar tax offset provision of the LIT for 
property tax relief implies a revenue neutral effect. However, in Indiana, the property tax caps 
initiated in 2009 may cause the adoption of a LIT for property tax relief to yield some additional 
revenue to local government units by reducing the amount of property tax credits necessary to 
comply with the new property tax caps. 

In Hamilton County, during 2019, the total LIT rate was 1.0% on the adjusted gross income of local 
taxpayers in the County and was authorized as an expenditure rate. For 2020, the Hamilton County 
LIT rate was increased to 1.1% with the revenue from the additional 0.1% dedicated to fund the cost 
of public safety communication services (i.e. dispatch, etc.) countywide. That tax rate increase did 
not generate a LIT revenue increase for the City. Instead, the County retained all of the additional 
revenue from the 0.1% rate increase, correspondingly ended intergovernmental charges to cities 
and town for dispatch services and interconnected public safety radio equipment starting in 2020. 
The 2020 budgetary relief realized by the City of Noblesville was nearly $1.5M which will be ongoing. 

Budgetary Controls 

Under Indiana law, an annual budget must be prepared for all planned spending from funds that 
require appropriation approval by the state’s Department of Local Government Finance. That annual 
budget must be adopted by the local fiscal body (i.e. the Common Council) no later than November 
1 of the preceding year. 

The annual budget ordinance is prepared, under the Mayor’s direction, for introduction to the 
Common Council at or before its first meeting in October. That proposed budget must be publicly 
disclosed as prescribed in the Indiana Code, and a public hearing must be held prior to the final 
adoption by the Common Council. 

During their review process, the Common Council may reduce any appropriation amount proposed 
by the Mayor, but they may not increase any appropriation amount in that proposed budget. 

In accordance with Indiana law, the City maintains budgetary controls integrated within their 
enterprise accounting system. The purpose of these budgetary controls is to ensure compliance with 
the appropriation limits set by the Common Council and approved by the state’s Department of Local 
Government Finance. 

The budgetary control thresholds established in state law are set by: a) major expense classification 
within a fund; and b) department within a fund. The four major expense classifications defined in 
Indiana law are: Personal Services; Supplies; Services & Other Charges; and Capital Outlay. 
Departments may be established at local discretion and typical examples include Police Protection, 
Fire Protection, Street Maintenance, and Parks and Recreation. The Common Council maintains 
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primary appropriation authority over all City funds with the exception of utility funds and Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) funds. Those funds are not subject to appropriation control under Indiana 
state law. Furthermore, for all funds supported by a property tax levy, additional appropriations, in 
excess of the original budget, approved by the Common Council must also be submitted for approval 
to the state’s Department of Local Government Finance. 

Finally, the Park Board may also exercise appropriation authority over the certain park funds if the 
Common Council chooses to delegate its authority. 

For all of the City’s TIF funds, state law designates the Redevelopment Commission as the official 
fiscal body with approval authority over the expenditure of those monies though there is no 
appropriation requirement for those monies. For the City’s wastewater utility, the City’s Board of 
Public Works & Safety is designated as the official fiscal body in state law. While there is no budget 
approval or appropriation requirement on local public utilities, the City’s wastewater utility does 
prepare and present an advisory budget, as do most other such utilities across the state. 

The City also maintains an encumbrance accounting system as one technique of maintaining budget 
compliance. Encumbered amounts, for goods or services, which are yet to be delivered and/or 
invoiced, are set aside to ensure that those monies are not unintentionally spent for another purpose. 
Consequently, at year end, with further approval by the Common Council, any encumbered funds 
may be carried over to the subsequent year and expended once the good or service is delivered 
without impacting the subsequent year’s appropriation authority. 

Budget to actual comparisons are provided in this report for each individual governmental fund for 
which an appropriated annual budget has been adopted. For the general fund, this comparison is 
presented on pages 95-97. For other governmental funds with appropriated annual budgets, the 
comparison is presented in the governmental fund subsection of this report on pages 146-154. 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT 

Indiana Code (IC) chapter 5-11-1 requires each municipality to be audited by the Board of Accounts, 
an agency of the State of Indiana. That requirement has been satisfied and the auditor’s opinion is 
included in this report. 

AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

The Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA) of the United States and Canada awarded a 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting (Certificate) to the City of 
Noblesville for its Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the fiscal year ended 
December 31, 2018. The Certificate is a prestigious national award-recognizing conformance with 
the highest standards for preparation of a state and local government financial report. 

In order to be awarded a Certificate, a government must publish an easily readable and efficiently 
organized CAFR that also complies will generally accepted accounting principles and all applicable 
legal requirements. 

The Certificate is valid for a period of one year. The City has received the Certificate for the last thirty-
one consecutive years (December 31, 1988 - December 31, 2018). We believe our 2019 CAFR 
continues to meet the full requirements of GFOA and it will be submitted for their review and 
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consideration. 

The successful preparation of this report would not have been possible without the dedication and 
cooperation of city officials, council members, department directors, and many others. Special 
appreciation is also extended to the Chief Accountant, Heather Trexler. Finally, I must acknowledge 
the skillful and insightful oversight of Shannon Lopez, Andrew Hartsel, and Kathleen Kemp, our lead 
auditors from the state’s Board of Accounts, the other members of their full audit team, and the 
tremendous effort and guidance of both Jim Treat and Rosy Oshry, our accountants from O.W. Krohn 
& Associates, LLP, in the completion of this report. 

I believe this report to be of value to the citizens of Noblesville, our many visitors, and any 
prospective investors in our community. 

Respectfully submitted, 

Jeffrey L. Spalding, 
CFO & Controller 

-XIII-



 

-XIV- 

(This page intentionally left blank.)



       -XV-



-XVI- 

ELECTED OFFICIALS 

 
CITY COUNCIL 

FRONT ROW (LEFT TO RIGHT): WIL HAMPTON, BRIAN AYER, CHRIS JENSEN, MEGAN 
WILES

BACK ROW (LEFT TO RIGHT): DARREN PETERSON, MARK BOICE, GREG O’CONNOR, 
ROY JOHNSON, RICK TAYLOR 

                        
   MAYOR JOHN DITSLEAR         CLERK EVELYN LEES     JUDGE S. MATT COOK 



Office Official Term

Mayor John Ditslear
Chris Jensen

City Clerk Evelyn Lees

Controller Jeffrey L. Spalding

Judge S. Matthew Cook

Common Council Members Brian Ayer
Mark Boice
Wil Hampton
Chris Jensen
Roy Johnson
Gregory O'Connor
Darren Peterson
Rick Taylor
Megan Wiles

President of the Board
  of Public Works and Safety John Ditslear

Member of the Board Jack Martin
  of Public Works and Safety John Elmer

01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/20  to 12/31/23

01/01/16 to 12/31/19

Appointed

12/07/16 to 12/31/19

01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
10/23/18 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19 
01/01/16 to 12/31/19

01/01/16 to 12/31/19

Appointed 
Appointed

NOBLESVILLE CITY OFFICIALS

-XVII-



S. Matt Cook, Judge

Michelle Latty, Court Admin Charlene Cummings, Deputy Clerk

Senior Court Clerk Brian Ayer Greg O'Connor

Administrative Court Clerk Mark Boice Roy Johnson

  Jack Martin, President Wil Hampton Rick Taylor

  Robert J. Elmer Chris Jenson Megan Wiles

Darren Peterson

Mike Howard, Attorney

Robert Herrington, Communications Mgr. Holly Ramon, Director Misty Shearer, Administrator Brandon Bennett, Director

Michelle Glodowski, Admin Manager Kim Pottenger, Asst. Director Public Safety Tech Amber Mink, Asst. Director

Human Resources Assistant GIS Coordinator Curt Brisco, Golf Course Supt

Administrative Assistant GIS Analyst Kevin Conner, Parks Maintenance Supt

Asst. Golf Course Supt

Asst. Parks Maint Supt

Recreation Director

Jeff Spalding, CFO & Controller Alison Krupski, City Engineer Laborers

Heather Trexler, Chief Accountant Jim Hellmann, Asst. City Engineer Office Manager

Sam Beres, Budget/Finance Analyst Field Operations Manager Administrative Assistant

Deb Nulliner, Payroll Administrator Project Manager

Payroll Assistant Inspector

Accounting Assistant Office Manager David Dale, Facilities Manager Judi Johnson, Director

Administrative Assistant Administrative Assistant Nick Vilders, Asst. Facilities Mgr. Andrew Murray, Asst. Director

Secretary/Permit Clerk Lead Custodian Economic Development Specialist
Custodian Administrative Assistant

Sarah Reed, Director Kevin Jowitt, Chief Patty Johnson, Commissioner Ray Thompson, Director Greg Wyant, Chief

Caleb Gutshall, Asst. Director Scott Kirby, Asst. Chief Jayson Williams, Asst. Commissioner Karrie Hutson, Asst. Director Matt Mitchell, Asst. Chief

Development Services Mgr. Deputy Chief Chief Operators Chief Operator/Coll. Sys. Chris Gellinger, Deputy Chief

Building Commissioner Lieutenant Urban Forester Chief Operator/Storm Water Sys MS4 Division Chiefs

Asst. Building Commissioner Sergeant Inspector Chemist/Lab Supervisor Captain/Logistics - Public Relations

Senior Planner Master Patrol Officer Sign/Signal Technician Lab Technician Inspector

Associate Planner Patrol Officers Crew Leaders Operators Battalion Chiefs

Building Inspector Community Service Officer Operators Account Clerk Supervisor Captains

Code Enforcement Officer Parking Enforcement Officer Office Manager Office Manager Lieutenants

Office Manager Quarter Master Administrative Assistant Administrative Assistant Firefighters

Administrative Assistant Crime Analyst Office Manager

Office Manager Administrative Assistant

Administrative Assistant

Secretary

GIS Technician

Legislative Branch

Planning Street

IT Department

Maintenance

Police Wastewater

Engineering

Economic Development

Fire

 Finance & Accounting

Evelyn Lees, City Clerk

Administration Parks & Recreation

Citizens

Executive Branch

Human Resources

Judicial Branch

Common Council

Board of Works

 Steve Cooke, Deputy Mayor

John Ditslear, Mayor

Legal

2019 Organizational Chart

-XVIII-



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL SECTION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



-1- 

 
 

STATE OF INDIANA  
AN  EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER  STATE BOARD OF ACCOUNTS 

302 WEST WASHINGTON STREET 
ROOM E418 

INDIANAPOLIS, INDIANA 46204-2769 
 

Telephone: (317) 232-2513 
Fax: (317) 232-4711 

Web Site: www.in.gov/sboa 
 

 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

 
 

TO: THE OFFICIALS OF THE CITY OF NOBLESVILLE, HAMILTON COUNTY, INDIANA 
 

Report on the Financial Statements 
 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of 
Noblesville (City), as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic financial statements as listed in the Table of 
Contents. 

 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements 

in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair pres- 
entation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

 
Auditor's Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 

 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and dis- 

closures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including 
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the City's prep- 
aration and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appro- 
priate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
City's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our audit opinions. 
 

Opinions 
 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, 
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of December 31, 2019, and the respective 
changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and for the year then ended in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

http://www.in.gov/sboa
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Other Matters 
 

Required Supplementary Information 
 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the 
Management's Discussion and Analysis, Schedules of Changes in Net Pension Liability - Single-Employer 
Defined Benefit Pension Plans, Schedules of Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios - Single-Employer 
Defined Benefit Pension Plans, Schedules of Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability - Cost- 
Sharing Multiple-Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans, Schedules of City Contributions - Single- 
Employer Defined Benefit Pension Plans, Schedules of City Contributions - Cost-Sharing Multiple-Employer 
Defined Benefit Pension Plans, Schedule of Changes in Net OPEB Liability (Asset) and Related Ratios, 
Schedule of Employer Contributions, Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund, and Budget/GAAP 
Reconciliation - General Fund, as listed in the Table of Contents, be presented to supplement the basic 
financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by 
the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting 
for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We 
have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of 
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency 
with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we 
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any 
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to 
express an opinion or provide any assurance. 

 
Other Information 

 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collec- 

tively comprise the City's basic financial statements. The accompanying Introductory Section; Combining 
Balance Sheets; Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances; 
Budgetary Comparison Schedules; Combining Statement of Net Position; Combining Statement of 
Changes in Net Position; Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities; Combining Statement of Cash 
Flows, and the Statistical Section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required 
part of the basic financial statements. 

 
The Combining Balance Sheets; Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes 

in Fund Balances; Budgetary Comparison Schedules; Combining Statement of Net Position; Combining 
Statement of Changes in Net Position; Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities; and Combining 
Statement of Cash Flows are the responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. Such 
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial 
statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly 
to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the 
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Combining Balance 
Sheets; Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances; Budgetary 
Comparison Schedules; Combining Statement of Net Position; Combining Statement of Changes in Net 
Position; Statement of Changes in Assets and Liabilities; and Combining Statement of Cash Flows are fairly 
stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

 
The Introductory and Statistical Sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures 

applied in the audit of the basic financial statements, and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or 
provide any assurance on it. 

 

 

Paul D. Joyce, CPA 
State Examiner 

 

November 17, 2020 
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As management of the City of Noblesville, Indiana, we encourage readers to consider the overview and 
analysis information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our 
letter of transmittal, which can be found on pages VI-XIII of this report. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 

• Year-end total assets and deferred outflows of $667.8 million increased by $21.6 million or 3.3% 
as compared to the prior year.  This increase is primarily due to investment in capital assets. 
 

• Year-end total liabilities and deferred inflows of $326.2 million increased by $6.8 million or 2.1% as 
compared to the prior year.  This increase was primarily due to the increase in debt used to fund 
key economic development projects and address ongoing capital equipment needs.  

 
• The City’s total assets and deferred outflows exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows by $341.6 

million.  Of this amount, $14.4 million is considered unrestricted.  The unrestricted net position for 
governmental activities only is $(4.9) million.  The negative is due mainly to the issuance of new 
bonds in 2019 whose unspent proceeds are all restricted.  The unrestricted net position for 
business-type activities is $19.3 million.   
 

• The net position for governmental activities increased $9.5 million or 4.7% during the year.  The 
net position for business-type activities increased $5.2 million or 4.2% during the year. 

 
• The City’s governmental fund balances grew by $17.1 million, to $112.0 million by year-end, due 

primarily to other financing sources, including four bond issues and capital lease financing net of 
related capital outlays.  Approximately 70% of the total governmental fund balance, or $78.5 million 
is designated as committed, assigned, and unassigned.  The remaining 30% is designated as 
restricted. 

 
• The City’s total outstanding debt obligations increased by $9.7 million during the year, the net effect 

of $30 million in new bonds issued offset by $20.3 million in bond debt retired during the year, some 
of which occurred through refundings. 
 

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The City’s basic financial statements include three components: 
 

1. Government-wide financial statements, providing information for the City as a whole. 
2. Fund financial statements, providing detailed information for the City’s significant funds. 
3. Notes to the financial statements, providing additional information that is essential to understanding 

the government-wide and fund statements. 
 
Other supplementary information and additional explanation of the included financial statements is provided 
below. 
 
Government-wide financial statements.  These statements are designed to provide readers with a broad 
overview of the City of Noblesville’s finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business. 
 
The statement of net position presents information on all assets, liabilities and deferred outflows/inflows of 
resources. The net total of these items is reported as net position.  Over time, increases or decreases in 
net position is a very rough indicator of whether the financial position of the City is improving or deteriorating. 
 
The statement of activities presents information showing factors affecting the City’s net position during the 
most recent fiscal year.  All changes in net position are reported in the accounting period the event occurs, 
regardless of the timing of the related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and expenses as reported in this 
statement may result in cash flows for future periods (e.g. uncollected taxes; earned, but not used, 
compensated absences; etc.). 
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The government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City that are principally supported 
by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other functions that are 
substantially or completely funded by user fees and charges (business-type activities).  The governmental 
activities include general government, public safety, highways and streets, culture and recreation and 
economic development.  The business-type activities include a wastewater utility. 
 
The government-wide financial statements are presented on pages 16-17 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements. A fund is an aggregation of monies, with a common set of allowable uses, for 
the purpose of tracking the allocation of those resources for specific activities or objectives. The City, like 
other state and local government units, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
certain legal requirements.  All of the funds of the City are grouped into three (3) categories: governmental 
funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported 
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government-
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term inflows and outflows 
of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal 
year.  Such information may be useful in evaluating near-term financial performance. 
 
Because the focus of governmental fund reports is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar information 
presented for only governmental activities.  By doing so, readers may better understand the effects of the 
City’s near-term financial decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund 
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate a 
comparison of governmental funds to governmental activities. 
 
The City presents data for eighty-two (82) separate governmental funds in this report. For the three (3) 
major funds – general, redevelopment authority debt service, and redevelopment authority capital projects 
– data is detailed individually on the governmental funds balance sheet and statement of revenue, 
expenditures, and change in fund balance.  Data for the other seventy-nine (79) non-major governmental 
funds is combined into a single, aggregated summary total.  Detailed data for each of those non-major 
governmental funds is presented in combining statements elsewhere in this report. 
 
The City adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund, certain special revenue funds, and 
certain debt service funds and budgetary comparison statements are provided for each. 
 
The basic governmental fund financial statements are presented on pages 18-21 of this report. 
 
Proprietary funds.  The City maintains two (2) types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are established 
for business-type activities and internal service funds are established to allocate costs across various City 
functions.  The City uses enterprise funds to account for its wastewater utility and uses internal service 
funds to account for its self-insurance programs for employee health benefits, property & casualty liability, 
and other similar contingent liabilities.  Because the internal service funds predominately support 
governmental rather than business-type functions, they are reported as governmental activities within the 
government-wide financial statements. 
 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 22-24 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary funds.  The City maintains fiduciary funds to account for resources held for the benefit of parties 
outside the government.  Therefore, fiduciary funds are not included in the government-wide financial 
statements.  
 
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 25-26 of this report. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
(CONTINUED) 

Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional detail or context that is essential to a full 
understanding of the data presented in the financial statements.  Those notes are presented on pages 27-
86 of this report. 

Other Information.   Combining statements for all funds that function together as the City’s general fund 
are presented on pages 162-163. Combining statements for all other non-major governmental 
funds and fiduciary funds are presented on pages 112-159 of this report. Additionally, the 
combining statements for the internal service funds are presented on pages 165-166 of this report.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 

Net position is a key financial indicator. For the City, assets exceeded liabilities by $341,590,523 at 
year-end. 

By far, the largest portion of the City’s net position, 80%, is capital assets (e.g. land, buildings, vehicles, 
and equipment) – measured by the value of those assets less any outstanding debt used to acquire 
them. Those capital assets are deployed to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are 
illiquid and not available to fund future spending.  Therefore, resources needed to repay that debt must be 
provided from other sources. 

A notable portion of the City’s net position, 15%, is funds subject to external restrictions on their use. 

The City’s remaining unrestricted portion of the net position, $14,390,621, is attributable entirely 
to the $19,314,996 unrestricted net position for business-type activities which is partially offset by a 
small negative unrestricted net position for governmental activities. The City continues to report a 
strong positive total net position overall and for governmental and business-type activities individually. 
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The following is a summary of the information presented in the full Statement of Activities on page 17. 
 

 
 

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 

Revenue:

Program revenues:

    Charges for services 11,001,644$   12,898,462$    17,051,677$   18,734,867$   28,053,321$     31,633,329$   
    Operating grants
            and contributions 3,981,698       4,706,106        -                 -                 3,981,698        4,706,106       
    Capital grants
            and contributions 10,717,676     5,585,057        3,081,880       2,095,871       13,799,556      7,680,928       

General revenues:    
  Taxes:
    Property taxes 43,709,810     45,705,756      -                 -                 43,709,810      45,705,756     
    Income 23,614,717     21,537,336      -                 -                 23,614,717      21,537,336     
    Other    5,443,624       6,095,614        -                 -                 5,443,624        6,095,614       
  Other    1,107,960       1,753,388        26,275           67,079           1,134,235        1,820,467       
         Total revenues 99,577,129$   98,281,719$    20,159,832$   20,897,817$   119,736,961$   119,179,536$  

Expenses:    
    General government 16,284,130     18,857,194      -                 -                 16,284,130      18,857,194     
    Public safety 24,868,342     38,763,089      -                 -                 24,868,342      38,763,089     
    Highways and streets 14,546,715     13,606,020      -                 -                 14,546,715      13,606,020     
    Culture and recreation 4,471,565       5,501,294        -                 -                 4,471,565        5,501,294       
    Economic Development 5,347,102       6,221,420        -                 -                 5,347,102        6,221,420       
    Interest on long-term debt 5,487,710       5,900,630        -                 -                 5,487,710        5,900,630       
    Wastewater -                 -                  14,705,642     15,510,532     14,705,642      15,510,532             
         Total expenses 71,005,564$   88,849,647$    14,705,642$   15,510,532$   85,711,206$     104,360,179$  

Excess revenues 28,571,565$   9,432,072$      5,454,190$     5,387,285$     34,025,755$     14,819,357$   

Transfers:

    Capital asset transfer (97,920)          (53,500)           97,920           53,500           -                  -                 
    Fund transfer (952,070)         200,000           952,070          (200,000)         -                  -                 

(1,049,990)$    146,500$         1,049,990$     (146,500)$       -$                -$               

Increase(Decrease) in net position 27,521,575     9,578,572        6,504,180       5,240,785       34,025,755      14,819,357     

Net position, beginning of year 189,512,241   202,593,732    117,673,254   124,177,434   307,185,495     326,771,166   
Prior period adjustment (14,440,084)    -                     -                    -                    (14,440,084)     -                    

Net position - beginning after prior period adjustment 175,072,157   202,593,732    117,673,254   124,177,434   292,745,411     326,771,166   

Net position, end of year 202,593,732$  212,172,304$   124,177,434$  129,418,219$  326,771,166$   341,590,523$  

 Total 

City of Noblesville Change in Net Position

 Governmental Activities  Business-Type Activities 
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 Governmental Activities 
 
Governmental activities raised the City’s net position by $9,578,572.  Total assets and deferred outflows 
increased approximately $19.9 million offset by an increase in total liabilities and deferred inflows of 
approximately $10.3 million. 
 
The change in total assets included a $13.5 million increase in cash, a $5.5 million increase in developer 
contributed infrastructure assets, and approximately $9 million in additional capital assets, offset by a $7.0 
million reduction of deferred outflows for pension and OPEB obligations.  For total liabilities, most of the 
increase was for bonds payable plus a $2 million increase in deferred inflows from OPEB and pensions 
obligations.  
 
Notable changes in governmental activities revenues and expenses, as compared to the prior year, 
included the following: 
 

• Governmental revenue decreased approximately $1.3 million. The largest component was the 
decrease in developer contributed infrastructure of $5.1 million. This decrease was partially offset 
by a $2.6 million increase in charges for services and operating grants. Tax revenues were flat; a 
$2.1 million increase in property taxes, including controlled levies, debt levies, and tax increment 
capture, were offset by $2.1 million decrease in local income tax (LIT) revenue.  While the City’s 
regular LIT distribution (i.e. certified shares) continued to increase, a decline in the City’s 
supplemental catch-up LIT distribution more than offset that growth.   
 

• Governmental expenses increased overall by approximately $17.8 million.  For the City, most of 
the increase was for public safety, $13.9 million, and  general government, $2.6 million. OPEB 
adjustments to deferred outflows and inflows, due to differences in actual experience as compared 
to prior assumptions, explains the remaining increase.  A reduction in deferred outflows for 
pensions explains $11 million of the change in public safety expenses.  Other increases for police 
and fire operations included charges for County-provided dispatch and communication services, 
six (6) new sworn officer positions and a 3% across-the-board pay adjustment.      
 

• The following chart provides a comparison of total spending versus dedicated program revenue 
(i.e. including restricted tax revenue, but excluding unrestricted tax revenue) across the City’s major 
governmental activities. 
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Expenses and Program Revenues – Governmental Activities 
 

 
• The following graph provides a proportional breakdown of dedicated program revenue for the City’s 

governmental activities: 
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Business-type Activities 
 
Net position for business-type activities increased $5,240,785.  The major factor was receipt of $2,149,371 
in contributed infrastructure, funds from developers, and the Civil City. 
 
Total revenue for the Utility rose $737,985 while total expenses increased $804,890.  The revenue growth 
reflects two steps of a phased in rate adjustment, as well as growth in the customer base.  
 
The following chart provides a comparison of spending to dedicated program revenue for the City’s 
business-type activities: 
 

Expenses and Program Revenues – Business-type Activities 
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The following graph provides a proportional breakdown of dedicated program revenue for the City’s 
business-type activities: 
 

Revenues by Source – Business-type Activities 

 
 
 
Financial Analysis Funds 

 
As noted earlier, the City uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with certain legal 
requirements and restrictions on the use of public funds. 
 
Governmental funds.  As of year-end, the City’s governmental funds reported combined fund balances of 
$112,004,310, an increase of $17,078,107 from the prior year.  $33,533,744 of that total was restricted and 
the remaining $78,470,566 was either committed, assigned or unassigned.  
 
The total General Fund balance was $32,594,583, of which $1,035,243 was assigned and the remaining 
$31,559,340 was unassigned. 
 
As a measure of liquidity, it is useful to compare the General Fund unassigned fund balance to total fund 
expenditures. The City’s year-end unassigned General fund balance was equal to 71 percent of total 
expenditures. Furthermore, the unassigned fund balance rose by $966,332 during the year. 
 
In 2016, the City established a Rainy Day Fund and deemed it a stabilization fund. As such, all revenue 
and expenditures for the Rainy Day Fund have been combined with the General Fund for the purpose of 
this report. For 2019, individual year-end fund balances for the General Fund and the Rainy Day Fund were 
$16,629,927 and $15,964,656, respectfully. 
 
Redevelopment Authority Funds were relatively stable.  The Debt Service Fund balance rose by $55,583 
during the year.  The Capital Projects Fund fund balance decreased by $26,818 decreased during the year 
as expenditures of debt proceeds for new investments continued.  
 
Proprietary funds.  The net position of the Utility rose by $5.2 million due to factors detailed above in 
business-type activities.  A majority of the increase in unrestricted assets which grew from $14.5 million to 
19.1 million during the year. 
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights 
 
Any change from the initial approved budget to the final amended budget reflects either: 1) appropriations 
encumbered (carried forward for expenditure) from the previous fiscal year; or 2) appropriation adjustments 
approved by the City’s fiscal body during for the current fiscal year.  Under Indiana law, prior year 
encumbrances may be rolled into the current year as a budget adjustment. 
 
General Fund revenue exceeded the final budgeted appropriations by $2,464,634 mainly due to the 
supplemental catch-up LIT distribution which is typically used by the City to bolster reserves. For the same 
period, total general fund expenditures were 2.6% less than the final budgeted appropriations. 
 
Capital Asset and Debt Management. 
 
Capital assets.  The City’s capital assets include land, buildings, improvements, machinery and equipment, 
park facilities, roads, traffic signals, and storm sewers. The City’s cumulative investment in capital assets, 
for both governmental and business-type activities, was $488,346,061 (net of accumulated depreciation). 
Net investment in capital assets increased by $15,283,270.  
 
Major capital assets added for governmental activities included $5 million of contributed infrastructure 
(roads, right-of-way, storm sewers), $4.5 million of road & street capital construction and $5.6 million of 
park projects under construction.  Roadway improvements included roundabouts at Greenfield Avenue and 
Howe Road and at Cumberland and Field Drive together with the Pleasant Street bridge and initial work on 
the reconstruction of Olio Road.  Park projects included improvements to the existing Seminary Park and 
continued development of the new Finch Creek Park in the corporate campus area. 
 
For business-type activities, major capital asset additions included was $2.1 million of sewers built by 
developers and conveyed to the City and $13.2 million of sewer and storm water collection capital 
construction and equipment acquisition by the Utility.  Most of this was transferred from prior construction 
in progress with the completion of the Phosphorus and LTCP Phase 4 projects. 
 
Additional information on the City’s capital assets can be found in Note II C, on pages 39-40 of this report. 
 

 
 
Long-term debt.   At the end of the year, the City had $233,395,000 of outstanding principal due for long-
term bonds. Of that total, $193,620,000 is debt backed by the full faith and credit of the City, for 
governmental activities, and $39,755,000 is debt backed solely by a pledge of utility revenue, for business-
type activities. 
 

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

Land 71,561,998   72,992,525   784,936       838,436       72,346,934   73,830,961   

Buildings 33,231,031   32,376,591   29,863,794   32,400,029   63,094,825   64,776,620   

Improvements other
     than buildings 14,103,913   13,741,001   74,699,300   78,724,549   88,803,213   92,465,550   

Machinery and equipment 12,049,821   14,251,839   11,195,829   14,143,300   23,245,650   28,395,139   

Infrastructure 205,954,202 205,134,331 -              -              205,954,202 205,134,331 

Construction in progress 9,192,734     22,066,380   10,425,233   1,677,080     19,617,967   23,743,460   

        Total $346,093,699 $360,562,667 126,969,092 127,783,394 $473,062,791 $488,346,061

TotalGovernmental Activities Business-Type Activities
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The City’s total bonds payable (i.e. outstanding principal due) decreased by $9,675,000 during the year.  
That decrease was the net result of $17,715,000 of scheduled principal payments, $2,640,000 refunded 
debt and $30,030,000 of new long-term debt issued.  
  
The Taxable Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2019, in the amount of $17,430,000, provided 
funding toward the Levinson Garage project in downtown Noblesville.  This project includes a private mixed 
used building with 83 living units, commercial space, joined with a public parking facility of over 300 spaces. 
The City will retain ownership of the parking garage and the mixed used building will be constructed on top 
of that structure. 
 
The Taxable Annual Appropriation Economic Development Revenue Bonds, Series 2019, in the amount of 
$7,010,000, funded a portion of the cost for the Campus Center project north of 146th Street and east of 
Promise Road.   The project is anticipated to include the construction of a 200,000 square foot office/flex 
complex and approximately 80,000 square feet of commercial/retail space in a previously blighted area.  
This bond was credit enhanced by an annual appropriation pledge of general revenue which is a structure 
that allows this obligation to be exempt from the City’s legal debt limits. Under this structure, the fiscal body 
retains authority to approve the back-up funding annually. 
 
The Capital Projects Short-Term General Obligation Bonds of 2019, in the amount of $3,000,000, provided 
funds for various capital improvement projects and equipment.  They mature at the end of 2020. 
 
Finally, the remaining principal balance of $2,640,000 for COIT Revenue Bonds of 2009 were refunded 
during the year and the future interest savings is approximately $526,000. 

 
The City’s credit ratings from S&P Global are “AA” for general obligation (GO) debt and “AA+” for the Local 
Income Tax (LIT) debt and A+ for general revenue subject to annual appropriation debt.  The Wastewater 
Utility’s credit rating from Moody’s Investor Services is “Aa2” for its user fee-backed revenue debt. 

 
The State of Indiana’s constitution limits the amount of GO and LIT-backed debt a City may issue to 0.66% 
of its current assessed value.  That limitation is commonly referred to as the 2% constitutional debt limit. 
However, that is now a misnomer. Due to a State Supreme Court ruling in the late 1990’s, the legal definition 
of assessed value was changed dramatically. That change resulted in the tripling of assessed values 
statewide. Correspondingly, the standard for calculating the 2% constitutional debt limit was also changed 
to prevent an unintended expansion of municipal debt issuance capacity.  
 
For the City, that limit was $61,727,469 at the end of the year.  That total reflects the fact that the Civil City, 
the Redevelopment District, and the Park District are each granted their own debt issuance authority under 
State law. All three (3) entities share the same geographic footprint; and thus, the same total assessed 
value. So, for each entity, they had an identical debt limit of $20,575,823. As of year end, the amount of 
outstanding principal on debt subject to this limit for the Civil City, Redevelopment District, and Park District 
was $15,680,000, $7,615,000, and $7,315,000 respectively.  All other outstanding debt was structured in a 
manner not subject to the limit. For example, debt structured as a lease rental obligation or funded solely 

2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019

General Obligations bonds:
        Property Tax 21,630,000$   21,865,000$   -$                -$                21,630,000$   21,865,000$   
        Park District Property Tax 7,500,000       7,315,000       -                  -                 7,500,000       7,315,000       
        Local Income Tax 3,840,000       2,905,000       -                  -                 3,840,000       2,905,000       
        Tax Increment 148,075,000   154,525,000   -                  -                 148,075,000   154,525,000   
        Annual Appropriation -                 7,010,000       -                7,010,000       
Total 181,045,000$ 193,620,000$ -$                -$                181,045,000$ 193,620,000$ 

Revenue Bonds -                 -                42,675,000      39,775,000      42,675,000     39,775,000     
Total Outstanding Debt 181,045,000$ 193,620,000$ 42,675,000$    39,775,000$    223,720,000$ 233,395,000$ 

Total

City of Noblesville's Outstanding Debt as of December 31, 2019

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities
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with tax increment revenue is not subject to the constitutional debt limit.  Additional information on the City’s 
long-term liabilities is provided in Note II H, on pages 46-50 of this report. 
 
Economic and Other Factors 
 

• The unemployment rate in the City was 2.1 percent.  This compares favorably to the statewide 
average rate of 3.0 percent and the National rate of 3.4 percent.  
 

• The City continues to experience growth as evidenced by the new building permits issued which 
totaled 959; a 46% increase from the prior year.  
 

• The City created a Rainy Day Fund in 2016. At the end of year, the fund had a balance of almost 
$16 million. For the year, 25% of total LIT revenue, regular distributions and supplemental catch-
up distributions, was deposited into the Rainy Day Fund to continue to build up reserves. 
 

• State-wide property tax caps first took effect in 2009. For the year, the tax credits (i.e. forgone 
revenue) resulting from those caps totaled $4.4 million for the City.  That impact is estimated to rise 
to $5.4 million next year.  However, total nominal property tax revenue growth for the City continues 
to outpace the growth in their tax credit losses. 

 
All of those factors are considered in preparing the annual City’s budget.  
 
Requests for Information 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City of Noblesville’s finances for all 
with an on-going or passing interest.  Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report 
or requests for additional information should be addressed to the Office of Finance & Accounting, City of 
Noblesville, 16 South 10th Street, Noblesville, Indiana 46060-2809. 



















































































































 

-71- 

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE 
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

(Continued) 
 
 
Sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the discount rate 
 
PERF – Civil 
 
Discount rate sensitivity 1% Decrease (5.75%) Current Rate (6.75%) 1% Increase (7.75%)

Net pension liability/(asset) 10,464,675$              6,515,933$              3,222,381$                
 
PERF – 1977 Police 
 
Discount rate sensitivity 1% Decrease (5.75%) Current Rate (6.75%) 1% Increase (7.75%)

Net pension liability/(asset) 6,723,310$               60,760$                   (5,320,129)$              
 
PERF – 1977 Firefighters 
 
Discount rate sensitivity 1% Decrease (5.75%) Current Rate (6.75%) 1% Increase (7.75%)

Net pension liability/(asset) 9,959,482$               90,006$                   (7,880,898)$               
 
Asset allocation of the pension plan’s portfolio 
 
For the PERF – Civil, PERF – 1977 Police and the PERF – 1977 Firefighters plans, the 
long-term return expectation has been determined by using a building-block approach and 
assumes a time horizon, as defined in the INPRS Investment Policy Statement. A 
forecasted rate of inflation serves as the baseline for the return expectation. Various real 
return premiums over the baseline inflation rate have established for each asset class. The 
long-term expected nominal rate of return has been determined by calculating a weighted 
average of the expected real return premiums for each asset class, adding the projected 
inflation rate, and adding the expected return from rebalancing uncorrelated asset classes. 
 

Geometric Basis

Target Asset 
Allocation

Long-Term 
Expected Real 
Rate of Return

Public Equity 22.0% 4.9%
Private Equity 14.0% 7.0%
Fixed Income - Ex inflation-linked 20.0% 2.5%
Fixed Income - Inflation-linked 7.0% 1.3%
Commodities 8.0% 2.0%
Real Estate 7.0% 6.7%
Absolute Return 10.0% 2.9%
Risk Parity 12.0% 5.3%  
 

    Money-weighted rate of return 
 

The money-weighted rate of return equals investment performance, net of pension plan 
investment expense, adjusted for the changing amount actually invested. For the 
measurement date of June 30, 2019, the money-weighted return on the plan assets is 
7.32% for the PERF Plan and 7.34% for the 1977 Plans. 
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Financial Trends 169-173

Revenue Capacity 175-179

Debt Capacity 180-185

Demographic and Economic Information 186-189

Operating Information 190-192

This part of the City of Noblesville's comprehensive annual financial report presents detailed information as a context
for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and required supplementary
information says about the City's overall financial health.

Sources: Unless otherwise noted, the information in these schedules is derived from the comprehensive annual financial
reports for the relevant year.  

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand how the City's financial
performance and well-being have changed over time.

These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the City's local revenue source, property
taxes.

These schedules present information to help the reader assess the affordability of the City's current
levels of outstanding debt and the City's ability to issue additional debt in the future.

These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the reader understand the
environment within which the City's financial activities take place.

These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader understand how the
information in the City's financial report relates to the services the City provides and the activities it
performs.
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Governmental Activities:

Net investment in capital assets 183,562,935$       166,653,507$       155,288,238$      145,567,900$      134,342,338$      121,218,630$      114,473,654$      111,063,125$      100,501,820$      93,878,151$        
Restricted 33,533,744           d 35,215,897           34,389,473          c 42,660,844          35,133,129          34,505,854          32,301,880          31,638,300          33,519,810          25,626,888          
Unrestricted (4,924,375)           d 724,328                (165,470)              c (14,724,499)         (7,111,071)           a 7,656,911            14,997,585          13,233,741          14,726,063          16,150,864          

Total governmental activities net position 212,172,304$       202,593,732$       189,512,241$      173,504,245$      162,364,396$      163,381,395$      161,773,119$      155,935,166$      148,747,693$      135,655,903$      

Business - Type Activities:

Net investment in capital assets 90,981,298$         88,611,065$         85,356,440$        82,597,844$        80,474,188$        b 80,865,842$        78,132,289$        79,660,471$        80,257,088$        80,563,974$        
Restricted 19,121,925           21,182,079           d 6,789,336            5,821,267            5,675,787            5,756,425            5,673,161           4,669,581           3,903,753           4,639,898           
Unrestricted 19,314,996           14,384,290           d 25,527,478          23,864,932          19,983,359          17,032,778          16,975,886          15,682,765          13,661,085          16,264,900          

Total business - type activities net position 129,418,219$       124,177,434$       117,673,254$      112,284,043$      106,133,334$      103,655,045$      100,781,336$      100,012,817$      97,821,926$        101,468,772$      

Primary government:

Net investment in capital assets 274,544,233$       255,264,572$       240,644,678$      228,165,744$      214,816,526$      202,084,472$      192,605,943$      190,723,596$      180,758,908$      174,442,125$      
Restricted 52,655,669           56,397,976           41,178,809          48,482,111          40,808,916          40,262,279          37,975,041          36,307,881          37,423,563          30,266,786          
Unrestricted 14,390,621           15,108,618           25,362,008          9,140,433            12,872,288          24,689,689          31,973,471          28,916,506          28,387,148          32,415,764          

Total primary government net position 341,590,523$       326,771,166$       307,185,495$      285,788,288$      268,497,730$      267,036,440$      262,554,455$      255,947,983$      246,569,619$      237,124,675$      

a The change in the unrestricted balance in the governmental funds is primarily due to the implementation of GASB 68 and GASB 71.  The net pension asset, net pensions liability and OPEB obligation increased by a net $14.6 million from the prior year.
b Capital assets were restated in 2015 to include a prior period adjustment of $2,837,217 due to overstatement of capital assets for improvements.
c The change in the restricted/unrestricted balances is due to a reclassification of funds from restricted to unrestricted.
d The change in the restricted/unrestricted balances is due to a reclassification of funds from unrestricted to restricted.

-169- The City of Noblesville implemented GASB 63 for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012.  Prior to the implementation, net position was stated as net assets.
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 

Expenses:
   Governmental Activities:

General government 18,857,194$ 16,284,130$ 20,453,103$ 22,570,301$ 21,513,337$ 22,819,562$ 16,170,350$ 14,977,533$ 16,156,250$  15,567,425$  
Public safety 38,763,089   g 24,868,342   27,777,236   26,272,849   25,618,321   26,621,910   24,538,187   24,141,504   24,179,519    23,105,515    
Highways and streets 13,606,020   14,546,715   8,406,837     11,390,173   13,258,585   7,811,899     10,709,480   10,390,631   12,868,209    10,098,081    
Culture and recreation 5,501,294     4,471,565     3,721,783     3,743,991     3,749,832     2,775,891     2,883,329     3,479,086     2,930,555      3,037,866      
Economic Development 6,221,420     5,347,102     7,879,352     5,933,414     d 84,133          6,088,104     2,450,465     58,644          -                    20,316           
Interest on long-term debt 5,900,630     5,487,710     5,514,458     5,539,319     6,333,374     7,083,600     8,395,540     8,484,701     9,398,440      9,416,948      

Total governmental activities expenses 88,849,647   71,005,564   73,752,769   75,450,047   70,557,582   73,200,966   65,147,351   61,532,099   65,532,973    61,246,151    

   Business-Type Activities:
Wastewater 15,510,532   14,705,642   14,238,378   11,269,497   10,305,263   10,497,493   10,721,810   8,950,764     9,939,013      8,515,722      

Total business-type activities expenses 15,510,532   14,705,642   14,238,378   11,269,497   10,305,263   10,497,493   10,721,810   8,950,764     9,939,013      8,515,722      

Total primary government expenses 104,360,179 85,711,206   87,991,147   86,719,544   80,862,845   83,698,459   75,869,161   70,482,863   75,471,986    69,761,873    

Program Revenues:
   Governmental Activities:

Charges for services:
   General Government 2,350,969     2,388,221     2,553,291     4,212,057     2,547,606     3,219,779     2,763,026     1,503,676     1,762,854      1,956,741      
   Public Safety 3,484,032     3,468,764     3,917,174     4,001,857     3,602,836     4,392,253     5,037,767     3,369,859     3,479,598      3,856,827      
   Highways and streets 3,650,479     2,194,386     2,369,642     1,436,904     1,693,328     1,502,685     767,562        1,090,011     985,835         1,422,557      
   Culture and recreation 2,784,166     2,231,954     3,154,264     2,611,765     2,755,148     2,243,418     2,683,009     2,416,648     2,333,572      1,919,948      
   Economic development 628,816        718,319        2,050,000     -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Operating grants and contributions
   General Government -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
   Public Safety 45,502          -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
   Highways and streets 4,660,604     3,981,698     3,631,423     2,660,424     2,818,025     2,935,345     2,350,287     2,057,868     1,727,122      1,612,725      
   Culture and recreation -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
Capital grants and contributions
   General Government -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
   Public Safety -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
   Highways and streets 5,024,409     10,717,676   4,094,787     6,757,792     5,512,986     3,593,149     4,539,159     4,567,202     4,678,475      2,927,352      
   Culture and recreation 325,648        -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    
   Economic development 235,000        -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    -                    

Total governmental activities revenues 23,189,625   25,701,018   21,770,581   21,680,799   18,929,929   17,886,629   18,140,810   15,005,264   14,967,456    13,696,150    

   Business-Type Activities:
 Wastewater:
Charges for services 18,734,867   17,051,677   17,970,880   f 14,602,625   13,726,815   11,925,499   11,424,691   10,358,608   10,465,336    10,078,803    
Capital grants and contributions 2,095,871     3,081,880     1,710,077     2,991,116     1,410,532     1,969,450     790,197        923,099        602,915         1,497,444      

Total business-type activities revenues     20,830,738     20,133,557 19,680,957   17,593,741   15,137,347   13,894,949   12,214,888   11,281,707   11,068,251    11,576,247    

Total primary government revenues 44,020,363   45,834,575   41,451,538   39,274,540   34,067,276   31,781,578   30,355,698   26,286,971   26,035,707    25,272,397    

Net Revenues (expenses):
Governmental activities (65,660,022)  (45,304,546)  (51,982,188)  (53,769,248)  (51,627,653)  (55,314,337)  (47,006,541)  (46,526,835)  (50,565,517)  (47,550,001)  
Business-type activities 5,320,206     5,427,915     5,442,579     6,324,244     4,832,084     3,397,456     1,493,078     2,330,943     1,129,238      3,060,525      

Total net revenues (expenses): (60,339,816)  (39,876,631)  (46,539,609)  (47,445,004)  (46,795,569)  (51,916,881)  (45,513,463)  (44,195,892)  (49,436,279)  (44,489,476)  

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
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Changes in Net Position
For the years ended December 31, 



2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 

General revenues and other changes in net position:
  Governmental activities:

Taxes:
  Property Taxes 45,705,756$ 43,709,810$ 41,082,153$ 39,176,776$ 37,839,905$ 35,527,771$ 33,685,434$ 33,518,336$ 33,429,880$  31,499,986$  
  Food and beverage tax 1,978,344     1,846,819     1,817,910     1,799,917     1,554,345     1,495,509     1,470,626     1,354,073     1,035,443      1,134,993      
  Local income tax e 21,537,336   23,614,717   20,416,538   19,915,934   18,799,297   16,028,903   17,209,846   15,391,329   18,872,642    b 7,278,699      a
  Financial institutions tax 103,514        79,286          83,886          93,226          86,477          81,556          90,680          85,525          89,317           103,537         
  Auto and aircraft excise tax 2,790,870     2,873,900     2,718,624     2,652,929     2,306,721     2,321,322     2,091,156     2,005,476     1,948,698      1,860,137      
  Commercial vehicle excise tax 35,259          28,964          29,861          30,798          30,393          30,785          32,869          32,809          32,700           32,197           
  State cigarette tax 151,114        154,615        160,877        168,579        166,133        174,956        250,456        175,426        143,823         146,638         
  Gaming tax 307,860        307,860        307,860        307,849        307,860        307,860        307,860        307,860        246,253         246,254         
  Other taxes 728,653        152,180        235,467        121,870        194,360        282,868        72,283          358,162        1,393,226      1,329,562      
Other Miscellaneous 534,991        860,081        701,538        282,421        177,227        137,730        183,394        197,775        1,457,788      96,081           
Unrestricted investment earnings 1,218,397     247,879        235,470        91,347          152,006        81,927          75,691          87,537          107,044         181,152         
Transfers 146,500        (1,049,990)    200,000        267,451        (332,792)       572,495        200,000        200,000        4,900,493      c -                

Total  Governmental activities: 75,238,594   72,826,121   67,990,184   64,909,097   61,281,932   57,043,682   55,670,295   53,714,308   63,657,307    43,909,236    

  Business - Type activities:
Unrestricted investment earnings 67,079          26,275          146,632        93,916          150,630        48,748          46,830          59,948          124,409         84,208           
Transfers (146,500)       1,049,990     (200,000)       (267,451)       332,792        (572,495)       (200,000)       (200,000)       (4,900,493)    c -                

Total  Business - Type activities: (79,421)         1,076,265     (53,368)         (173,535)       483,422        (523,747)       (153,170)       (140,052)       (4,776,084)    84,208           

Total Primary Government 75,159,173   73,902,386   67,936,816   64,735,562   61,765,354   56,519,935   55,517,125   53,574,256   58,881,223    43,993,444    

Change in net position
Governmental activities 9,578,572     27,521,575   16,007,996   11,139,849   9,654,279     1,729,345     8,663,754     7,187,473     13,091,790    (3,640,765)    
Business-type activities 5,240,785     6,504,180     5,389,211     6,150,709     5,315,506     2,873,709     1,339,908     2,190,891     (3,646,846)    3,144,733      

Total primary government 14,819,357$ 34,025,755$ 21,397,207$ 17,290,558$ 14,969,785$ 4,603,054$   10,003,662$ 9,378,364$   9,444,944$    (496,032)$     

Notes:

b COIT increased after State discovered previously reported excess distributions were erroneous.
c Wastewater transferred $4.7 million of infrastructure capital assets to the City related to the Maple Ave. project and $200,000 in cash for payment of portion of 2009 COIT Bond payment.
d Increase in Economic Development expenditures related to the City's investment in the BlueSky Technologies Inc. downtown headquarters project.

f Includes a full year of trash receipts, the final phase of a rate increase and the increase in the collection of tap fees.

Changes in Net Position
CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
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e In 2015, the General Assembly enacted legislation to consolidate and simplify the various local income tax laws, including COIT, into a single uniform law. Beginning in 2017, County option income tax has been renamed Local income ta  

a The decrease in COIT taxes is due to the recognition in 2010 of new State estimates of the balance in undistributed county option income taxes which now indicate distributions to the City exceed actual collections by $5.2 million.

(continued)
For the years ended December 31, 



2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 

General Fund
Reserved 340,366$           
Unreserved 3,390,856          a

Spendable
Assigned 1,035,243$         303,990$            886,939$            282,822$            309,649$            109,704$            394,996$            195,808$            412,644$            
Unassigned 31,559,340         30,593,008         26,484,704         24,586,862         18,178,914         15,372,664         13,981,022         14,414,375         10,611,369         

Total general fund 32,594,583$       30,896,998$       27,371,643$       24,869,684$       18,488,563$       15,482,368$       14,376,018$       14,610,183$       11,024,013$       (1) 3,731,222$        

All other governmental funds:
Reserved 140,000$           
Unreserved, reported in:

Special revenue funds 9,596,605          
Debt service funds 16,577,470        
Capital projects funds 33,861,901        

Spendable
Restricted 33,533,744$       35,215,897$       34,389,473$       b 18,759,025$       9,407,820$         8,524,492$         6,656,775$         7,132,134$         9,907,989$         
Committed 41,449,396         26,870,395         23,674,462         b 41,620,246         38,347,660         35,694,449         37,902,843         38,354,850         38,824,798         
Assigned 4,426,587           2,111,019           2,554,161           1,504,418           4,017,828           6,946,625           9,885,624           7,063,957           8,031,407           
Unassigned -                      (168,106)             (26,697)               (52,693)               (43,585)               (8,734)                 (42,286)               (28,136)              (23,399)               

Total all other governmental funds 79,409,727$       64,029,205$       60,591,399$       61,830,996$       51,729,723$       51,156,832$       54,402,956$       52,522,805$       56,740,795$       60,175,976$      

(1) In fiscal year 2011, the City implemented GASB 54 which changed the reporting for Governmental Fund Balances. The table reflects the new reporting for fiscal years after 2010.

b  In 2017, there was a reclassification of the Redevelopment Authority - Debt Service and Noblesville Building Corporation - Debt Service funds from committed to restricted.
a  Due to $7.2 million decrease in county option income tax revenue.
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CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

As of December 31, 



2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Revenues

Taxes 68,293,861$ 66,027,658$ 59,547,850$ 64,737,096$ c 54,099,969$ 50,826,602$ 47,153,892$  48,909,665$  52,302,522$   b 39,692,534$   a
Licenses and Permits 2,232,018     2,061,195     1,634,533     1,657,028     1,367,622     1,162,793     1,092,746      1,041,469      880,514          1,211,889       
Intergovernmental 11,940,500   10,554,524   9,758,081     8,548,171     8,194,392     8,312,947     7,418,576      7,006,243      9,561,405       6,400,980       
Charges for Services 8,909,479     7,537,423     8,628,608     6,985,501     7,426,221     6,163,387     6,453,022      4,608,884      4,968,841       4,266,662       
Fines and Forfeits 155,944        179,322        268,296        371,357        600,700        1,877,505     1,228,182      1,360,929      1,229,212       1,510,745       
Miscellaneous 2,736,744     1,633,522     3,609,548     4,744,022     813,896        1,702,464     1,929,422      1,024,593      2,397,883       2,643,998       

Total Revenues 94,268,546   87,993,644   83,446,916   87,043,175   72,502,800   70,045,698   65,275,840    63,951,783    71,340,377     55,726,808     

Expenditures
General Government 14,964,046   14,139,972   14,083,735   16,018,660   15,874,520   15,576,962   12,186,309    10,608,113    9,595,888       10,886,951     
Public Safety 30,109,249   26,806,385   25,870,744   24,818,465   24,152,778   23,775,669   22,464,378    22,732,098    22,662,721     21,521,289     
Highways and Streets 7,206,912     5,513,361     4,482,667     4,490,484     4,317,061     3,787,550     3,591,857      3,170,642      2,955,128       3,736,184       
Culture and Recreation 5,860,789     4,682,047     3,417,574     6,549,474     2,895,237     2,215,298     2,118,893      2,680,447      2,369,580       2,313,302       
Economic Development 836,375        5,910,217     4,800,000     2,835,607     -                -                -                -                 -                 20,316            
Capital Outlay 24,137,764   14,903,874   17,415,017   11,299,335   9,185,528     19,015,359   8,887,341      9,177,513      15,680,430     18,504,712     a
Debt Service:
   Principal 17,429,445   16,537,047   14,996,881   14,182,797   13,132,466   10,615,415   9,268,325      8,171,799      6,309,128       5,723,110       
   Interest 5,785,702     5,597,160     5,493,418     5,886,664     6,289,637     7,892,897     8,614,800      8,791,201      9,296,031       9,649,715       
   Issuance costs 518,570        -                206,207        796,680        1,211,827     1,060,373     105,305         274,708         -                 373,748          

Total Expenditures 106,848,852 94,090,063   90,766,243   86,878,166   77,059,054   83,939,523   67,237,208    65,606,521    68,868,906     72,729,327     

Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over (under) expenditures (12,580,306)  (6,096,419)    (7,319,327)    165,009        (4,556,254)    (13,893,825)  (1,961,368)    (1,654,738)     2,471,471       (17,002,519)    

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Financing by capital lease 2,121,805     5,264,496     1,846,689     1,744,279     1,706,445     1,939,265     935,654         181,330         1,186,139       162,527          
Transfers in 20,673,937   26,444,927   22,736,798   19,661,010   16,887,479   17,041,102   17,191,252    16,254,913    20,957,273     15,955,695     
Transfers out (20,673,937)  (26,444,927)  (22,736,798)  (19,661,010)  (16,887,479)  (17,041,102)  (17,191,252)  (16,254,913)   (20,957,273)   (15,955,695)    
Transfer from Proprietary Fund 200,000        205,000        200,000        200,000        200,000        200,000        200,000         200,000         200,000          -                  
Transfer to Wastewater Utility -                -                -                -                -                -                -                -                 -                 -                  
Payment to refunded bond escrow (2,693,392)    -                -                (31,056,894)  (22,711,473)  (82,050,214)  (5,498,300)    (23,982,202)   -                 (15,337,538)    
Issuance of debt 30,030,000   7,500,000     6,535,000     45,430,000   28,840,000   91,665,000   7,970,000      24,235,000    -                 20,730,000     
Premium (discount) on issuance of debt -                90,084          -                -                100,368        -                -                388,790         -                 927,253          

Total other financing sources (uses) 29,658,413   13,059,580   8,581,689     16,317,385   8,135,340     11,754,051   3,607,354      1,022,918      1,386,139       6,482,242       

Net change in fund balance 17,078,107$ 6,963,161$   1,262,362$   16,482,394$ 3,579,086$   (2,139,774)$  1,645,986$    (631,820)$      3,857,610$     (10,520,277)$  

Debt service as a percentage of 
 noncapital expenditures (d) 26.6% 27.0% 27.9% 26.6% 28.6% 28.5% 30.6% 30.1% 29.3% 28.4%

c  The State of Indiana made a one-time special income tax distribution out of excess trust funds on hand.  The City received approximately $8.5 million from this special distribution.
d The amount of capital outlay used to calculate noncapital expenditures for this ratio is adjusted to exclude items costing less than the capitalization threshold as shown in the reconciliation between

the government-wide statement of activities and the statement of revenues, expenditure and changes in fund balance.

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds

For the years ended December 31, 
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b  Increase in County Option Income Tax due to State correcting previously understated tax collections and distributions.
a  Discretionary capital outlay expenditures lowered in anticipation of lower tax revenues.
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Residential Commercial Industry Other (3) Total Real Property

2019 785,354,561$       378,926,384$        43,307,998$         4,828,082$             1,212,417,025          
2018 717,686,252         365,898,910          38,434,757           4,167,234               1,126,187,153          
2017 665,022,538         327,719,537          35,354,933           4,806,204               1,032,903,212          
2016 622,590,325         320,440,274          31,553,243           4,333,143               978,916,985             
2015 586,811,497         304,508,025          28,926,527           4,518,637               924,764,686             
2014 548,297,686         305,579,010          28,510,678           4,016,320               886,403,694             
2013 527,158,290         309,009,681          27,785,329           4,010,176               867,963,476             
2012 523,665,894         310,967,771          27,020,979           4,022,320               865,676,964             
2011 519,476,575         316,341,707          24,909,933           3,353,651               864,081,866             
2010 521,890,929         283,664,987          29,882,179           3,741,538               839,179,633             

Personal Property
Total Real and 

Personal Property
Less Tax 

Increment District Assessed Value (1) True Tax Value (2)
Total Direct 

Tax Rate

2019 77,460,904$         1,289,877,929       261,086,766$       1,028,791,163        3,086,373,489          1.0529             
2018 72,201,210           1,198,388,363       250,868,092         947,520,271           2,842,560,814          1.0735             
2017 68,078,265           1,100,981,477       213,528,482         887,452,995           2,662,358,984          1.1324             
2016 63,705,453           1,042,622,438       203,026,566         839,595,872           2,518,787,617          1.1358             
2015 58,002,032           982,766,718          190,542,296         792,224,422           2,376,673,264          1.2021             
2014 55,589,937           941,993,631          154,313,353         787,680,278           2,363,040,834          1.2060             
2013 53,836,760           921,800,236          151,020,477         770,779,759           2,312,339,276          1.1534             
2012 53,115,341           918,792,305          152,789,786         766,002,519           2,298,007,557          1.1502             
2011 63,449,760           927,531,626          175,867,017         751,664,609           2,254,993,827          1.0521             
2010 53,872,349           893,051,982          160,326,332         732,725,650           2,198,176,950          1.0276             

(1) Property reassessments were effective in 2003.

Source: Hamilton County Auditor's Office - Total Assessed and true tax values are those amounts that have been reported to and certified by the State
each year. 

(3) Includes adjustments due to appeals as well as assessed values from property classes of agriculture, exempt, utility and other as defined by the
County Auditor's office.

(2) True tax value is 3 times assessed value. Beginning in 2002, tax rates were based upon $100 of true tax value. In prior years, the rate was per
$100 of assessed value.

Total

Real Property

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Assessed Value and True Tax Value of Taxable Property

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

City Direct Rates:
Corporation General 0.5421$      0.6018$      0.6846$      0.7422$      0.7803$     
MVH 0.1814        0.1970        0.1313        0.1024        0.0919       
Cumulative Cap Development 0.0500        0.0432        0.0437        0.0442        0.0463       
Park 0.1134        0.0805        0.0857        0.0729        0.0752       
Debt Service -              0.0021        0.0045        0.0046        0.0058       
Lease Rental 0.0437        0.0486        0.0513        0.0539        0.0651       
Fire Building Debt 0.0170        0.0187        0.0203        0.0200        0.0233       
Thoroughfare Bond 0.0159        0.0174        0.0187        0.0195        0.0204       
Fire Equipment Debt -              -              -              -              -            
Cum Fire Special 0.0164        0.0168        0.0170        0.0172        0.0180       
Corporate Bond #2 0.0335        0.0275        0.0491        0.0307        0.0441       
Park Bond 0.0190        -              -              -              -            
Debt Payment 0.0205        0.0199        0.0262        0.0282        0.0317       

Total City Direct Rate 1.0529$      1.0735$      1.1324$      1.1358$      1.2021$     

Overlapping Rates:

County Rate 0.2791 0.2814 0.2814 0.2814 0.2926

Solid Waste Rate 0.0031 0.0032 0.0032 0.0032 0.0033

Township Rates
Noblesville 0.0073 0.0076 0.0077 0.0078 0.0080
Delaware 0.0238 0.0241 0.0245 0.0243 0.0241
Wayne 0.0530 0.0147 0.0148 0.0144 0.0145
Fall Creek 0.0071 0.0036 0.0036 0.0038 0.0077

Library Rates 0.0601 0.0627 0.0647 0.0647 0.0677

School Districts Rates
Noblesville School Corporation 1.4798 1.3136 1.3503 1.2882 1.4984
Hamilton Southeastern School Corp 1.2635 1.2739 1.2616 1.1342 1.1426

Total Tax Rates for Taxing Districts in the City of Noblesville:

013 - Noblesville City 2.8823$      2.7420$      2.8397$      2.7811$      3.0721$     a
019 - Noblesville - Delaware - HSE 2.6825$      2.7188$      2.7678$      2.6436$      2.7324$     b
021 - Noblesville - Fall Creek 2.6658$      2.6983$      2.7469$      2.6231$      2.7160$     c
022 - Noblesville - Wayne 2.7117$      2.7094$      2.7581$      2.6337$      2.7228$     d

a Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Noblesville township, library and Noblesville school corp. rates.
b Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Delaware township, library and Hamilton Southeastern school corp. rates.
c Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Fall Creek township, library and Hamilton Southeastern school corp. rates.
d Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Wayne township, library and Hamilton Southeastern school corp. rates.

Source:  Hamilton County Auditor's Office

Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 
CITY OF NOBLESVILLE

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

City Direct Rates:
Corporation General 0.7630$        0.7451$      0.7494$      0.7234$      0.6681$      
MVH 0.0965          0.1081        0.0936        0.1019        0.1115        
Cumulative Cap Development 0.0486          0.0294        0.0280        0.0299        0.0299        
Park 0.0662          0.0675        0.0591        0.0598        0.0635        
Debt Service 0.0059          0.0056        0.0070        0.0038        0.0051        
Lease Rental 0.0723          0.0702        0.0869        0.0482        0.0572        
Fire Building Debt 0.0288          0.0281        0.0345        0.0213        0.0231        
Thoroughfare Bond 0.0268          0.0146        0.0321        0.0196        0.0213        
Fire Equipment Debt -               -              -              -              0.0005        
Cum Fire Special 0.0189          0.0194        0.0185        0.0198        0.0198        
Corporate Bond #2 0.0444          0.0471        -              -              -              
Park Bond -               -              -              -              -              
Debt Payment 0.0346          0.0183        0.0411        0.0244        0.0276        

Total City Direct Rate 1.2060$        1.1534$      1.1502$      1.0521$      1.0276$      

Overlapping Rates:

County Rate 0.3054 0.3074 0.2901 0.2769 0.2724

Solid Waste Rate 0.0033 0.0033 0.0032 0.0030 0.0030

Township Rates
Noblesville 0.0079 0.0078 0.0076 0.0052 0.0073
Delaware 0.0232 0.0241 0.0224 0.0208 0.0226
Wayne 0.0153 0.0158 0.0161 0.0160 0.0160
Fall Creek 0.0047 0.0050 0.0079 0.0105 0.0110

Library Rates 0.0708 0.0702 0.0756 0.0615 0.0615

School Districts Rates
Noblesville School Corporation 1.4250 1.4584 1.3502 1.3686 1.1173
Hamilton Southeastern School Corp 1.1501 1.1746 1.1376 1.1263 1.1151

Total Tax Rates for Taxing Districts in the City of Noblesville:

013 - Noblesville City 3.0184$        3.0005$      2.8769$      2.7673$      2.4891$      a
019 - Noblesville - Delaware - HSE 2.7588$        2.7330$      2.6791$      2.5406$      2.5022$      b
021 - Noblesville - Fall Creek 2.7403$        2.7139$      2.6646$      2.5303$      2.4906$      c
022 - Noblesville - Wayne 2.7509$        2.7247$      2.6728$      2.5358$      2.4956$      d

a Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Noblesville township, library and Noblesville school corp. rates.
b Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Delaware township, library and Hamilton Southeastern school corp. rates.
c Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Fall Creek township, library and Hamilton Southeastern school corp. rates.
d Includes total city direct, state, county, solid waste, Wayne township, library and Hamilton Southeastern school corp. rates.

Source:  Hamilton County Auditor's Office

(continued)

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Direct and Overlapping Property Tax Rates 

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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Taxpayer Assessed Value Rank
Percent of Total City 

Assessed Value * Assessed Value Rank
Percent of Total City 

Assessed Value *

Hamilton Town Center LLC 22,009,767$           1 2.14%
SMC Corporation 19,770,838             2 1.92%
Prairie Lakes Apartments LLC 12,883,800             3 1.25%
Flats at 146th LLC 12,183,010             4 1.18%
Pedcor Property Acquisition LLC / Lions Creek Associates Ltd. 12,024,467             5 1.17% 15,445,933$             1 2.11%
Millstone Partners LLC 9,843,300               6 0.96%
Cumberland Point Apartments 9,161,400               7 0.89% 6,231,200 4 0.85%
Autumn Breeze Apartment Homes LLC 8,369,267               8 0.81%
Rainier Stoney Creek LLC 8,182,000               9 0.80%
Northlake Village Apartments 6,299,000               10 0.61%
Inland Southeast Stoney Creek LLC/Inland 
Real Estate Corp./Inland Real Estate BSC LLC 8,792,867 2 1.20%
Meijer Stores LP 7,041,523 3 0.96%
MRP Northlake LLP 5,553,133 5 0.76%
Aciterra Noble West 5,074,133 6
Rg Indiana LLC 4,752,067 7 0.65%
Village of Pebble Brook Apartments 4,703,867 8 0.64%
Lowe's Home Center 4,528,163 9 0.62%
Duke Energy/PSI 3,819,350 10 0.52%

120,726,849$         11.73% 65,942,236$             8.31%

Source:  Hamilton County Auditor's Office

* Based on City's assessed values as reported on assessed value table.
Note- Total Assessed Value of the City of Noblesville is $1,028,791,163 for 2019 and $732,725,650 for 2010, According to the Hamilton County Auditor's office.

2019 2010

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Principal Taxpayers

Current and Nine Years Ago
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Total Taxes Levied for the 
Current Fiscal Year

Collection of Current Fiscal 
Year Tax Levy

% of 
Levy

Collections of Prior Year 
Levies Amount % of Levy

(A) (B) (C)
2019 27,868,433$                          25,981,602$                         93.23% 1,983,107$                    27,964,709              100.35%
2018 27,260,151                            25,019,435                           91.78% 1,649,493                      26,668,928              97.83%
2017 25,748,536                            24,015,798                           93.27% 1,787,504                      25,803,302              100.21%
2016 25,011,973                            23,253,951                           92.97% 1,666,053                      24,920,004              99.63%
2015 24,024,178                            21,590,353                           89.87% 1,812,366                      23,402,719              97.41%
2014 24,024,254                            21,402,447                           89.09% 2,158,577                      23,561,024              98.07%
2013 22,375,332                            20,278,330                           90.63% 1,819,649                      22,097,979              98.76%
2012 22,203,527                            21,399,097                           96.38% 1,013,643                      22,412,740              100.94%
2011 20,186,694                            18,828,498                           93.27% 799,275                         19,627,773              97.23%
2010 20,344,472                            18,857,208                           92.69% 1,420,632                      20,277,840              99.67%

(A)
(B) Collections of prior year levies represents any collections for years prior to the reporting year. The data to segregate collections by year billed in unavailable.
(C) Total collections in the reporting year is the total of taxes due and collected in reporting year and any delinquent taxes collected in reporting year.

Source:  Hamilton County Auditor's Office
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CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Property Taxes Levied and Collected

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Total Collections

Note:  Hamilton County Auditor's Office system is not set-up to track collections by year levied.  As of the end of 2019, total delinquent property tax due to the City for 2019 and all 
prior years was approximately $1,983,107.

Amount represents collections of tax levy due in the reporting year.  



Building Corporation 
Bonds

Redevelopment 
Bonds

City General 
Obligation Bonds

Park District
Bonds LIT Bonds (2)

General 
Appropriation Bonds

Tax Increment 
Bonds Capital Leases

2019 15,775,000$            3,090,000$            3,000,000$             7,400,342$          2,905,000$         7,010,000$              155,189,557$         6,236,336$            
2018 18,115,000              3,515,000              7,587,713            3,829,415           148,831,617           6,728,975              
2017 20,455,000              3,935,000              -                      4,627,473           159,433,677           3,906,962              
2016 22,768,313              4,340,000              -                      5,405,531           162,910,614           3,552,678              
2015 24,385,818              4,735,000              -                      6,168,589           155,762,527           3,461,345              
2014 26,490,795              5,115,000              -                      6,906,647           156,630,940           3,202,327              
2013 27,577,577              5,570,000              -                      7,719,656           149,265,752           2,383,216              
2012 29,290,758              5,542,794              -                      6,001,093           153,034,105           2,446,531              
2011 30,940,820              5,834,910              -                      6,580,694           157,574,307           3,171,999              
2010 32,402,694              6,116,915              -                      6,985,253           160,936,481           2,969,988              

Total Governmental 
Activities

Sewage Revenue 
Bonds Capital Leases

Total Primary 
Government

Percentage of 
Personal Income 1 Debt per Capita 1

2019 200,606,235$          40,015,535$          59,591$                  240,681,361        4.98% 3,722                      
2018 188,607,720            42,642,873            -                         231,250,593        5.10% 3,643                      
2017 192,358,112            45,465,196            52,330                    237,875,638        5.80% 3,896                      
2016 198,977,136            38,652,519            103,278                  237,732,933        6.22% 4,019                      
2015 194,513,279            40,889,842            152,880                  235,556,001        6.31% 3,982                      
2014 198,345,709            41,954,716            201,171                  240,501,596        7.36% 4,159                      
2013 192,516,201            43,912,941            -                         236,429,142        7.47% 4,188                      
2012 196,315,281            40,144,358            -                         236,459,639        8.26% 4,280                      
2011 204,102,730            41,439,047            -                         245,541,777        9.29% 4,522                      
2010 209,411,331            30,738,030            -                         240,149,361        10.14% 4,621                      

1 Population and personal income data can be found in the Demographics and Economic Schedule
Notes:

(1)

(2)
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The debt capacity statistical tables have been revised for the years 2009 through 2014 to include premiums, discounts and similar adjustments. Information to restate earlier years was 
not available.
Formally COIT Bonds; various local income tax laws, including COIT, were consolidated into a uniform law and to transition each county from the "former taxes", including COIT, to 

a single tax governed by the Local Income Tax Statute ("LIT Statute"). The LIT Statute repealed the COIT Statute, effective January 1, 2017. Under the LIT Statute, any pledge of 

revenues received from a tax imposed under any of the provisions of the COIT Statute (prior to its repeal), the payment of debt service due on bonds is binding and enforceable and 

remains in full force and effect as long as the debt service remains unpaid.

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type
Last Ten Fiscal Years (1)

Revenue BondsProperty Tax

Business Activities

Governmental Activities

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE



Building 
Corporation 

Bonds
Redevelopment 

Bonds

City General 
Obligation 

Bonds
Park District 

Bonds Total
Funds Restricted for 

Principal/Interest Net Bonded Debt

Ratio of Net 
Bonded Debt to 
Assessed Value*

Net Bonded 
Debt Per 
Capita *

2019 15,775,000$       3,090,000$         3,000,000$      7,400,342$         29,265,342$    3,252,996$             26,012,346$         2.53% 402                
2018 18,115,000         3,515,000           -                  7,587,713           29,217,713      2,985,127               26,232,586           2.77% 413                
2017 20,455,000         3,935,000           -                  -                      24,390,000      3,271,486               21,118,514           2.38% 346                
2016 22,768,313         4,340,000           -                  -                      27,108,313      3,694,545               23,413,768           2.79% 396                
2015 24,385,818         4,735,000           -                  -                      29,120,818      4,098,801               25,022,017           3.16% 423                
2014 26,490,795         5,115,000           -                  -                      31,605,795      3,605,357               28,000,438           3.55% 484                
2013 27,577,577         5,570,000           -                  -                      33,147,577      3,117,761               30,029,816           3.90% 532                
2012 29,290,758         5,542,794           -                  -                      34,833,552      3,861,745               30,971,807           4.04% 561                
2011 30,940,820         5,834,910           -                  -                      36,775,730      7,571,067               29,204,663           3.89% 538                
2010 32,402,694         6,116,915           -                  -                      38,519,609      7,427,748               31,091,861           4.24% 598                

Notes:
1)
2)

3)

4)

Based on the assumptions described above, outstanding balances from the following bond issues included in the ratios above: $2,845,000 2014 Building Corp. First Mortgage Refunding Bonds;
$7,475,000 2014B Building Corp. First Mortgage Refunding Bonds; $5,455,000 2016 Building Corporation Refunding Mortgage Bonds.

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Ratios of Net General Bonded Debt Outstanding

Last Ten Fiscal Years

This schedule includes only debt repaid with property taxes.  It excludes bonds payable from income taxes and tax increment financing bonds.
The Building Corporation and Redevelopment bonded debt on this schedule which is outstanding at December 31, 2019 is not reflected on the computation of legal debt margin because it was
issued as lease rental obligations which are exempt from the 2% limitation; however, the Park Districts Bonds are subject to the limit.

*  The City's population can be found in the Demographics and Economics Schedule and the assessed value can be found on the Assessed Value Schedule.

The amount of debt service funds netted against outstanding debt represents cash restricted by ordinance for the repayment of the property tax paid bonds listed above.  
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Governmental Unit Outstanding Debt
Percent Applicable to 

Noblesville
Amount Applicable to 

Noblesville

Direct Debt:
City of Noblesville 200,606,235$        100.00% 200,606,235$                     

Overlapping Debt Paid with Property Taxes:

Hamilton Southeastern School Corporation 274,900,000 4.78% 13,140,220

Noblesville Schools 163,283,538 86.79% 141,713,783

Noblesville Southeastern Public Library 7,640,000 29.84% 2,279,776

Hamilton County 82,515,000 13.94% 11,502,591

Wayne Township 1,966,250 56.62% 1,113,291

Delaware Township 785,000 1.47% 11,540

Other Overlapping Debt:

Hamilton County Tax Increment Bonds 51,820,000 13.94% 7,223,708

Hamilton County - County Option Income Tax 7,973,789              13.94% 1,111,546                           

Hamilton County - Revenue Bonds 2,315,000              13.94% 322,711                              

Subtotal Overlapping Debt 593,198,577$        178,419,166$                     

Total Direct and Overlapping Debt  379,025,401$                     

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Direct and Overlapping  Debt 

At December 31, 2019

Note: The percentage of overlapping debt applicable is estimated using assessed values. The percentages are calculated by deterring the
portion of another governmental unit's assessed value that is within the City's corporate boundaries and dividing it by each unit total assessed
value.  

Overlapping governments are those that coincide, at least in part, with the geographic boundaries of the City. This schedule estimates the
portion of the outstanding debt of those overlapping governments that is borne by the residents and businesses of the City. This process
recognizes that, when considering the City's ability to issue and repay long-term debt, the entire debt burden borne by the residents and
businesses should be taken into account. However, this does not imply that every taxpayer is a resident, and therefore responsible for
repaying the debt, of each overlapping government.
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Legal Debt Margin Calculation for Fiscal Year 2019

Assessed value 1,028,791,163$        

Debt Limit (2% of assessed value) 20,575,823               

Debt applicable to limit (A) 15,680,000               

Legal debt margin 4,895,823$               

Debt Limit
Total net debt 

applicable to limit Legal debt margin

Total net debt applicable to 
the limit as a percentage of 

debt limit

2019 20,575,823$             15,680,000$           4,895,823$               76.21%
2018 18,950,405               13,515,000             5,435,405                 71.32%
2017 17,749,060               7,665,000               10,084,060               43.19%
2016 16,791,917               8,215,000               8,576,917                 48.92%
2015 15,844,488               5,110,000               10,734,488               32.25%
2014 15,753,606               3,560,000               12,193,606               22.60%
2013 15,415,595               3,970,000               11,445,595               25.75%
2012 15,320,050               4,365,000               10,955,050               28.49%
2011 15,033,292               4,745,000               10,288,292               31.56%
2010 14,654,513               5,110,000               9,544,513                 34.87%

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Legal Debt Margin
December 31, 2019

(A) All other outstanding debt of the City is structured as lease transactions or tax increment district bonds.
Neither of these types of obligations are subject to the 2% limitation shown above. Currently the only
outstanding debt subject to the City's statutory debt limit are the Capital Project Short-Term General
Obligation Bonds of 2019, 2019 LIT Refunding Bonds, the 2013 Taxable Economic Development Bonds, the
2016 Taxable Economic Development Bonds, and the 2017 Taxable Economic Development Bonds. The
Redevelopment Commission may also issue general obligation debt subject to its own 2% limit. As of
12/31/2019, the Commission had $7,615,000 outstanding Redevelopment District Bonds subject to this debt
limit. The Park District may also issue general obligation debt subject to its own 2% limit. As of 12/31/2019,
the District had $7,315,000 outstanding Park District Bonds subject to this debt limit.
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LIT Revenue Principal Interest Coverage Tax Increment Principal Interest Coverage

2019 22,182,644$      (5) 885,000         92,955           22.68          17,825,787$      10,975,000          4,443,325         1.16                 
2018 22,379,482        (4) 800,000         172,835         23.00          16,909,657        10,495,000          4,765,574         1.11                 
2017 18,165,865        780,000         193,929         18.65          15,520,721        10,170,000          4,756,544         1.04                 
2016 16,808,268        765,000         213,680         17.17          14,665,532        8,375,000            4,101,478         1.18                 
2015 16,034,385        740,000         232,339         16.49          14,590,928        6,850,000            3,315,240         1.44                 
2014 14,911,368        815,000         258,355         13.89          12,341,719        4,240,000            5,397,184         1.28                 
2013 13,941,052        750,000         273,368         13.62          11,383,937        3,785,000            5,567,548         1.22                 
2012 13,528,329        590,000         256,438         15.98          11,494,982        3,585,000            5,668,258         1.24                 
2011 12,636,365        (2) 415,000         252,312         18.94          13,763,302        3,090,000            6,091,768         1.50                 
2010 12,884,599        360,000         232,605         21.74          12,070,518        2,065,000            5,993,948         1.50                 

(1)

(2) Includes $1,507,611 of undistributed 2011 COIT distributions the State had mistakenly withheld and paid to the City in April of 2012.
(3)

(4)

Various local income tax laws, including COIT, were consolidated into a uniform law and to transition each county from the "former taxes,"

including COIT, to a single tax governed by the LIT Statute. The LIT Statute repealed the COIT Statute, effective January 1, 2017. Under the

LIT Statute, any pledge of revenues received from a tax imposed under any of the provisions of the COIT Statute (prior to its repeal), the

payment of debt service due on bonds is binding and enforceable and remains in full force and effect as long as the debt service remains unpaid.

Tax Increment Bonds 1

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Debt Service

Local Income Tax (formally County Option Income Tax) (3)

Debt Service

Includes a supplemental distribution in the amount of $2,711,855 and a one-time distribution in the amount of $148,962.
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The tax increment bonds have other back up security for debt service payments in the event tax increment is not sufficient.  These include, 
depending on the bond, tax payer agreements, COIT and special benefits tax levies.

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Governmental Activities Pledged Revenue Coverage

Source:  Pledged revenue data provided by the County Auditor is based upon actual annual COIT and Tax Increment distributions to the City.  



Direct Net Revenue
Gross Operating Available for

Revenue (1) Expenses (2) Debt Service Principal Interest Total Coverage

2019 18,801,946$      9,943,654$      8,858,292         2,900,000$      1,311,297$      4,211,297        2.10
2018 17,077,952        9,765,004        7,312,948         2,877,330        1,132,693        4,010,023        1.82
2017 18,117,512        9,158,185        8,959,327         2,340,948        1,189,667        3,530,615        2.54
2016 14,696,541        6,470,493        8,226,048         2,289,602        1,245,199        3,534,801        2.33
2015 13,877,445        5,501,009        8,376,436         20,773,291      (4) 1,134,927        21,908,218      0.38
2014 11,974,247        5,714,967        6,259,280         2,033,750        1,695,625        3,729,375        1.68
2013 11,471,521        5,635,435        5,836,086         9,055,000        (3) 1,626,433        10,681,433      0.55
2012 10,418,556        4,720,032        5,698,524         1,285,000        1,882,563        3,167,563        1.80
2011 10,589,745        5,686,411        4,903,334         1,235,000        1,752,587        2,987,587        1.64
2010 10,163,011        5,064,162        5,098,849         1,180,000        1,433,450        2,613,450        1.95

(1) Gross Revenues include sewage works operating and non-operating revenues.
(2) Operating Expenses include all sewage works expenses except interest on debt, depreciation and amortization.
(3) Includes $7,710,000 refunding of the 2003 Bonds.  Bond coverage excluding principal refunded was 1.96.
(4) Includes $18,860,000 refunding of the 2006 and 2007 Bonds.  Bond coverage excluding principal refunded was 2.75.

Debt Service Requirements

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Business - Type Activities Pledged Revenue Coverage

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Sewage Revenue Bond
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Population (1)
School 

Enrollment (2)
Unemployment 

Rate (3)
Personal Income 

(millions of dollars) (4)

Per Capita 
Personal 

Income (4) Population
Personal Income 

(millions of dollars)

Per Capita 
Personal 
Income

2019 64,668               10,676               2.4% 4,831.8                            74,717$            338,011       25,255.2                   74,717$      
2018 63,482               10,611               2.7% 4,531.2                            71,377              330,086       23,560.5                   71,377        
2017 61,054               10,581               2.8% 4,102.3                            67,191              323,747       21,752.9                   67,191        
2016 59,153               10,426               3.4% 3,824.5                            64,654              316,373       20,454.8                   64,654        
2015 59,153               10,126               3.5% 3,735.0                            63,141              309,697       19,554.6                   63,141        
2014 57,824               9,947                 4.4% 3,267.9                            56,515              302,623       17,102.7                   56,515        
2013 56,458               9,780                 6.0% 3,164.5                            56,051              296,693       16,629.9                   56,051        
2012 55,243               9,516                 6.7% 2,862.9                            51,824              289,495       15,002.8                   51,824        
2011 54,295               9,181                 7.9% 2,643.7                            48,692              276,452       13,461.0                   48,692        
2010 51,969               9,009                 9.3% 2,367.5                            45,556              274,569       12,723.1                   45,556        

Sources:

2)  State of Indiana, Department of Education for students attending Noblesville School Corporation schools.

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Demographic and Economic Statistics

Last Ten Years

4) Personal income and per capita income statistics are not maintained by the State for municipalities. Personal income data is available through the Indiana Department of
Workforce Development, however, the smallest unit of government for which this can be obtained is the county level. Hamilton County personal income and per capita income
figures are for the prior calendar year. In order to provide personal income data for the required ratios outlined in GASB 44, we have used Hamilton County data, as displayed
above, from the IDWD. We have assumed that the per capital personal income for the County is reasonably representative of Noblesville per capita personal income. Personal
income for the City shown above is calculated using City population estimates times the County per capita personal income.

3)  State of Indiana, Department of Workforce Development (IDWD).  

Hamilton County (3)City of Noblesville

1) Population for 2010 is per official 2010 U.S. census. Estimated population for 2008, 2009, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 & 2017 are from the Noblesville Planning
Department. Population for 2011 & 2019 are U.S. Census Bureau estimates. Population for 2018 is from the Noblesville Annual Report.
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Employer Employees Rank

Percentage of 
Total City 

Employment * Employees Rank

Percentage of 
Total City 

Employment *

Noblesville School Corporation 1,603        1 4.60% 1,123          2 5.03%
Riverview Hospital (1) 1,291        2 3.70% 1,400          1 6.27%
Hamilton County 1,087        3 3.12% 994             3 4.45%
SMC Corporation of America 991           4 2.84% 543             4 2.43%
Ambu, Inc. (formerly King Systems) 485           5 1.39% 430             5 1.93%
City of Noblesville (1) 369           6 1.06% 372             6 1.67%
Helmer Inc. 237           7 0.68%
Ryan Fire Protection Services 200           8 0.57% 185             8 0.83%
CarDon & Associates 154           9 0.44%
Industrial Dielectrics, Inc. 200             7 0.90%
Riverwalk Village 140           10 179             9 0.80%
Lowe's 150             10 0.67%

Total 6,557        18.40% 5,576          24.98%

(1) Includes full and part time employment

Source:  Noblesville Department of Economic Development

*  Total employment as used above represents the total employment of all employers located within City limits.  Total employment for 
2019 and 2010 was 34,859 and 22,316 respectively.

2019 2010

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Principal Employers

Current year and nine years ago
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

General Government
Board of Works 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Mayor 5 4 5 5 5 6 6 6 6 6 6
Controller (Clerk-Treasurer) 10 7 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5
Planning 18 15 14 12 13 13 13 13 13 15 17
Court 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Network Administrator 2 8 7 6 4 4 4 3 3 3 3
Council 9 9 9 9 7 7 7 7 7 7 7
Human Resources 4 3 3 3 3 3 3 2 2 2 2
Economic Development 4 4 4 4 3 3 4 5 3 3 3
Engineering 13 11 12 11 10 10 10 10 10 10 10
Building/Maintenance 6 6 5 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Public Safety
Police

Officers 92 85 87 76 76 73 73 72 72 72 75
Civilians 11 10 10 10 11 10 10 10 10 9 11

Fire
Firefighters and Officers 134 132 132 132 127 122 126 126 125 125 130
Civilians 4 4 4 3 3 5 5 5 5 5 6

Emergency Medical Services
Communications 0 0 0 0 0 0 4 4 19 19 19

Highway and Streets 45 42 40 35 32 35 35 34 33 34 37
Parks and recreation 27 21 21 19 22 22 22 21 19 16 20
Wastewater 37 39 39 36 33 33 33 35 35 36 38

TOTAL 428 406 403 372 360 357 366 364 373 373 395

Source: Year End Reports of City Departments.  EMS Communication functions were assumed by the County in 2014.

-189-

Full-time Equivalent Employees as of December 31,

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Full-Time-Equivalent City Government Employees by Function/Program

Last Ten Years



2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

General Government
Building Permits Issued:
    Residential (Single/Multi Families) 882 592 501                      678                      1,242                   
    Commercial 77 65 73                        57                        28                        
Estimated Property Value of Building Permits Issued 274,947,955$     267,312,665$     227,121,005$      215,503,338$      249,761,726$      

Public Safety
Police:

Calls for Service 36,504                34,800                41,125                 (2) 48,536                 44,329                 
Physical Arrests 1,012                  849                     887                      1,073                   1,160                   
Citations Issued 2,187                  2,029                  2,181                   1,596                   1,490                   

Fire:
Emergency Medical Responses 3,999                  3,895                  3,976                   3,442                   3,969                   
Fire Runs 2,145                  1,914                  1,765                   2,142                   1,323                   

Highway and Streets
Total miles of public streets 298.27 289.62 266.08 260.08 255.6

Parks and recreation
Golf Rounds Played 33,000                32,000                43,000                 41,000                 37,183                 
Number of reservations at Forest Park Inn 572                     432                     318                      345                      283                      

Wastewater
Average daily sewage treatment (millions of gallons) 6.710                  6.320                  6.417                   5.786                   5.974                   
Number of customers served 22,000                21,165                20,489                 20,032                 19,359                 

(1) Starting in 2012, reservations recorded are paid reservations.
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(2) In 2017, the police department upgraded its records management system; the decrease is primarily due to the fundamental differences in the software capabilities, as well as the 
unfamiliarity of the new system.

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Operating Indicators by Function/Program

Last Ten Years



2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Building Permits issued:
    Residential (Single/Multi Families) 790                     685                     398                      410                      408                      918                      
    Commercial 23                       14                       12                        12                        13                        11                        
Estimated Property Value of Building Permits issued 343,389,819$     152,490,663$     148,893,479$      129,969,200$      74,865,132$        97,321,243$        

Public Safety
Police:

Calls for Service 44,086                43,370                43,859                 41,107                 40,753                 44,244                 
Physical arrests 1,079                  1,178                  1,501                   1,399                   1,398                   1,435                   
Citations Issued 1,579                  1,959                  2,800                   3,090                   3,120                   3,043                   

Fire:
Emergency Medical responses 3,730                  3,496                  3,590                   3,440                   3,190                   3,117                   
Fire Runs 1,257                  1,077                  1,204                   1,273                   1,380                   1,188                   

Highway and Streets
Total miles of public streets 248.13 247.52 246.9 242.8 239.8 236.65

Parks and recreation
Golf Rounds Played 36,072                37,657                40,164                 39,875                 44,706                 47,171                 
Number of reservations at Forest Park Inn 124                     115                     125                      (1) 327                      359                      438                      

Wastewater
Average daily sewage treatment (million of gallons) 5.684                  5.699                  4.896                   4.930                   4.930                   5.010                   
Number of customers served 18,846                18,368                17,874                 17,501                 17,097                 16,753                 

Source: Year End Reports of City Departments
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CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Operating Indicators by Function/Program

Last Ten Years
(continued)



2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009

Public Safety
Police Stations 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1
Fire Stations 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7

Other public works
Highways / Streets (miles) 298.27 289.62 266.08 260.08 255.60 248.13 247.52 246.90 242.80 239.80 236.65
Traffic signals 18 18 19 20 19 19 19 19 19 18 18
Street Lights 900 877 884 877 865 861 857 857 857 774 727

Parks and recreation
Number of Parks 7 6 6 5 5 4 4 4 4 4 4
Acreage 876.73 876.73 872.59 872.59 872.59 864 858.86 852.36 833.7 833.7 899.3
Playgrounds 8 7 7 6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6
Baseball/softball diamonds 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3 3
Soccer/football fields 18 18 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 22 9
Basketball Courts 6 4 4 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Public Golf Courses 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2
Public Pool * 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1

Wastewater
Sanitary sewers (miles) 293.03 284.50 278.00 252.40 271.28 264.10 261.12 258.74 256.29 254.6 251.27
Storm sewers (miles) 248.27 235.20 225.80 215.60 214.20 205.36 204.14 197.65 193.18 187.2 183.42

* Dillon Park opened a spray park in 2007

Source: Year End Reports of City Departments

CITY OF NOBLESVILLE
Capital Asset Statistics by Function/Program

Last Ten Fiscal Years
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